


REGULAR MEETING 
OF THE 

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 
 

Airport Skyroom 
Monday, February 2, 2026 

9:30 a.m., or Immediately Following  
the Conclusion of the Commission Meeting 

 
 

As a result of the convening of this meeting of the Finance and Administration Committee, 
each Committee member in attendance is entitled to receive and shall be provided $200. 
 
The public comment period is the opportunity for members of the public to address the 
Committee on agenda items and on Airport-related non-agenda matters that are within the 
Committee’s subject matter jurisdiction. At the discretion of the presiding officer, public 
comment on an agenda item may be presented when that item is reached. 

 
When in-person attendance or participation at meetings of the Committee is allowed, 
members of the public are requested to observe the following rules of decorum: 

 
• Turn off cellular telephones and pagers. 
• Refrain from disorderly or boisterous conduct, including loud, threatening, profane, 

or abusive language, clapping, whistling, stamping, or other acts that disrupt or 
otherwise render unfeasible the orderly conduct of the meeting. 

• If you desire to address the Committee during the public comment period, fill out a 
speaker request card and present it to the Board Secretary. 

• Confine remarks to agenda items or to Airport-related non-agenda matters that are 
within the Committee’s subject matter jurisdiction. 

• Limit comments to three minutes or to such other period of time as may be specified 
by the presiding officer. 

 
 

The following activities are prohibited: 
 

• Allocation of speaker time to another person. 
• Video presentations requiring use of Authority equipment. 

 
 

 
Any disclosable public records related to an open session item on a regular meeting agenda 
and distributed by the Authority to the Committee less than 72 hours prior to that meeting are 
available for public inspection at Hollywood Burbank Airport (2627 N. Hollywood Way, 
Burbank) in the administrative office during normal business hours. 

 
 

  
In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, if you require a disability- 
related modification or accommodation to attend or participate in this meeting, including 
auxiliary aids or services, please call the Board Secretary at (818) 840-8840 at least 48 hours 
prior to the meeting. 
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AGENDA\FINANCE\2-2-26 

 A G E N D A 
 

February 2, 2026 
 
 

1. Roll Call 
 

2. Staff Announcement:  AB 23 
 

3. Approval of Agenda 
 

4. Public Comment 
 

5. Approval of Minutes 
 
a.  January 20, 2026        [See page 1] 
 

6. Items for Approval 
 
a.  Presentation of Fiscal Year 2025 Financial Statements and  [See page 3] 
     Summary of Audit Results 
 
     A staff report is included in the agenda packet.  The Authority’s  
     independent auditor, Macias Gini & O’Connell LLP has completed 
     its audit of the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
     fiscal year 2025 financial statements.  Enclosed with this staff 
     report is a copy of the audited Basic Financial Statements for  
     the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 (“FY 2025”) and 2024 (“FY 2024”).   
     Also enclosed are copies of the audited Single Audit Reports (audit of  
     federal grant programs), Passenger Facility Charge Compliance  
     Report, Customer Facility Charge Compliance Report, Independent  
     Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Aspects of Contractual  
     Agreements (bond compliance), and the Auditor’s Required  
     Communications to the Authority Regarding the FY 2025 Audits.   
 
b.  Authorization to Engage Rating Agencies for    [See page 10] 
     Replacement Passenger Terminal Project Bonds 
      
     Staff report attached. Staff seeks a Finance and Administration  
     Committee recommendation to the Commission to: (i) approve the 
     engagement of S&P Global Ratings, Moody’s Investors Services,  
     and Fitch Ratings, Inc. for the assignment of bond credit ratings 
     for the Replacement Passenger Terminal project bonds, and 
     (ii) authorize the Executive Director to execute agreements for such 
     engagements and for the maintenance of the ratings through the term of 
     such bonds.  
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7. Items for Discussion

a. Replacement Passenger Terminal Plan of Finance
Bond Financing Schedule Update

No staff report attached.  Staff will continue to update the Committee
on the Bond financing schedule.

8. Items for Information

a. Committee Pending Items  [See page 12] 

9. Adjournment
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MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE  
FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 20, 2026 

A special meeting of the Finance and Administration Committee was called to order this date in 
the Airport Skyroom, 2627 N. Hollywood Way, Burbank, California, at 11:43 a.m., by 
Commissioner Wilson. 

1. ROLL CALL
Present: Commissioners Wilson, Ovrom and Quintero 

Absent: None 

Also Present: Staff:  John Hatanaka, Executive Director; Kathy David, 
Senior Deputy Executive Director; David Kwon, Deputy 
Executive Director, Finance and Administration; 
Madaleine Zavala, Senior Manager, Business & 
Properties 

Louis Choi, Public Resource Advisory Group 

2. Staff Announcement: AB 23 The Executive Director announced that, as a result of the 
convening of this meeting of the Finance and Administra-
tion Committee, each Committee member in attendance 
is entitled to receive and shall be provided $200. 

3. Approval of Agenda The agenda was approved as presented. 

Motion Commissioner Quintero moved approval; seconded by 
Commissioner Ovrom. 

 Motion Approved The motion was approved (3–0). 

4. Public Comment There were no public comments. 

5. Approval of Minutes

a. December 15, 2025 A draft copy of the minutes of the meeting of December 
15, 2025, was included in the agenda packet for review. 

 Motion Commissioner Quintero moved approval; seconded by 
Commissioner Ovrom. 

 Motion Approved The minutes were approved (3–0). 

6. Treasurer’s Report

a. October 2025 A draft copy of the October 2025 Treasurer’s Report was 
included in the agenda packet for the Committee’s 
review. 

5.a.
Subject to approval
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 Motion Commissioner Ovrom moved approval to recommend that 
the Commission note and file the report; seconded by 
Commissioner Quintero. 

  Motion Approved The motion was unanimously approved (3–0). 

7. Items for Approval

a. Proposed Resolution No. 520
Adopting the 2026 Authority
Investment Policy

Staff presented to the Committee for recommendation to 
the Commission proposed Resolution No. 520 to 
approve the adoption of the 2026 Authority Investment 
Policy. 

  Motion Commissioner Ovrom moved approval; seconded by 
Commissioner Quintero. 

  Motion Approved The motion was unanimously approved (3–0). 

b. Award of Aviation Hangar
Lease – Hangars 44 and 45

Staff presented to the Committee for recommendation to 
the Commission a proposed Aviation Hangar Lease with 
Earth Star, Inc. for Hangars 44 and 45.  This lease 
provides a lease term of eleven years, with one eleven-
year extension option, for the purpose of storing and 
operating its aircraft at Hollywood Burbank Airport. 

  Motion Commissioner Quintero moved approval; seconded by 
Commissioner Ovrom. 

  Motion Approved The motion was unanimously approved (3–0). 

8. Items for Discussion

a. Replacement Passenger
Terminal Bond and Commercial
Paper Program Schedule of
Activities

Louis Choi, Public Resource Advisory Group, presented 
an update on the status of the Bond activities for 
Replacement Passenger Terminal. 

9. Items for Information

a. Committee Pending Items Staff reviewed future items to be presented to the Committee. 

10. Adjournment The meeting was adjourned at 12:01 p.m. 
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PRESENTATION OF FISCAL YEAR 2025 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS  

STAFF REPORT PRESENTED TO THE 
BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 
FEBRUARY 2, 2026 

PRESENTATION OF FISCAL YEAR 2025 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS 

Presented by David Kwon 
Deputy Executive Director, Finance and Administration 

SUMMARY 

The Authority’s independent auditor, Macias Gini & O’Connell LLP (“MGO”) has completed 
its audit of the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority (“Authority”) fiscal year 2025 
financial statements. Enclosed with this staff report is a copy of the audited Basic Financial 
Statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 (“FY 2025”) and 2024 (“FY 2024”). Also 
enclosed are copies of the audited Single Audit Reports (audit of federal grant programs), 
Passenger Facility Charge Compliance Report, Customer Facility Charge Compliance 
Report, Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance with Aspects of Contractual 
Agreements (bond compliance), and the Auditor’s Required Communications to the 
Authority regarding the FY 2025 audits.   

The results are summarized below. 

• MGO’s “unmodified” opinions are:
o The Basic Financial Statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in

conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.
o The Authority complied in all material respects with compliance requirements

applicable to its major federal program, the Passenger Facility Charge program
and the Customer Facility Charge program and identified no reportable
deficiencies in internal control over compliance.

o MGO identified no reportable deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting or compliance that are required to be reported under Government
Auditing Standards.

o The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, Schedule of Passenger
Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures and Schedule of Customer Facility
Charge Revenues and Expenditures are fairly stated in relation to the Basic
Financial Statements as a whole.

o Based on auditing procedures performed, the Authority complied with the terms,
covenants, provisions or conditions of Section 6.05 (Rates and Charges) to
Article VI of the Bond Indenture, as amended.

MGO will present the results of its audits. Also included in the accompanying sections of this 
staff report is a summary of the audit results for FY 2025. Staff seeks a Finance and 
Administration Committee (“Committee”) recommendation to the Commission that it note 
and file these audit reports. 

6.a.
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Basic Financial Statements (“BFS”) of the Authority have been prepared in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The 
Government Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is the accepted standard-setting body 
for establishing accounting and financial reporting principles. 

The Authority reports its financial operations as a government enterprise activity, and as 
such, its financial statements are presented using the “economic resources” measurement 
focus and the accrual method of accounting. Under this method of accounting, revenues are 
recorded when earned and expenses are recognized when a liability is incurred, regardless 
of the timing of the related cash flows. The measurement focus is on determination of 
changes in net position, financial position, and cash flows. Operating revenues include 
charges for services, tenant rent, ground transportation, fuel flowage fees, and other 
operating revenues. Operating expenses include costs of services as well as materials, 
contracts, personnel, and depreciation.  Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue 
as soon as all eligibility requirements for reimbursement of expenses have been met. 

The BFS report is composed of three parts: 
(i) The Independent Auditor’s Report;
(ii) Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), a narrative overview and

analysis of the Authority’s financial activities; and
(iii) The Basic Financial Statements, consisting of the Statements of Net Position

(Balance Sheets), Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net
Position (Income Statements), Statements of Cash Flows and Notes to Basic
Financial Statements.

The Independent Auditor’s Report reflects an unmodified opinion, indicating that the BFS 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Authority at June 30, 2025 
and 2024, and the change in financial position and cash flows for the years then ended, are 
in conformity with GAAP. The audits were conducted in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial 
audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of 
the United States. 

The MD&A is required supplementary information. The discussion and analysis in the MD&A 
are intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority’s Basic Financial Statements.   
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A summary of the Statements of Net Position at June 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows: 

2025 2024 $ %
Assets:

Current unrestricted assets $ 87,689,238 $ 44,070,690 $ 43,618,548 99.0%
Current restricted assets 499,626,087 844,434,068 (344,807,981) -40.8%
Noncurrent unrestricted assets 1,065,598,557 635,683,587 429,914,970 67.6%
Noncurrent restricted assets 2,671,948 2,764,085 (92,137) -3.3%

Total assets 1,655,585,830 1,526,952,430 128,633,400 8.4%
Liabilities:

Current liabilities and liabilities
payable from restricted assets 135,197,656 70,653,625 64,544,031 91.4%

Noncurrent liabilities 815,937,431 818,519,943 (2,582,512) -0.3%
Total liabilities 951,135,087 889,173,568 61,961,519 7.0%

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows - leases 3,638,902 6,777,177 (3,138,275) -46.3%

Total deferred inflows 3,638,902 6,777,177 (3,138,275) -46.3%
Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 340,145,318 250,621,896 89,523,422 35.7%
Restricted 170,449,182 193,997,958 (23,548,776) -12.1%
Unrestricted 190,217,341 186,381,831 3,835,510 2.1%

Total net position $ 700,811,841 $ 631,001,685 $ 69,810,156 11.1%

Summary Statements of Net Position
Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

Change
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A summary of the Statements of Revenue, Expenses and Changes in Net Position for the 
years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 is as follows: 

2025 2024 $ %

Operating revenues $ 81,865,485 $ 74,990,094 $ 6,875,391 9.2%
Operating expenses before depreciation 61,939,288 58,304,726 3,634,562 6.2%

Operating income before
depreciation 19,926,197 16,685,368 3,240,829 19.4%

Depreciation 13,889,856 14,911,710 (1,021,854) -6.9%

Operating income 6,036,341 1,773,658 4,262,683 240.3%

Nonoperating revenues, net 25,598,764 31,073,839 (5,475,075) -17.6%

Income before capital contributions 31,635,105 32,847,497 (1,212,392) -3.7%

Capital contributions 38,175,051 14,367,792 23,807,259 165.7%

Changes in net position 69,810,156 47,215,289 22,594,867 47.9%

Net position, beginning of year 631,001,685 583,786,396 47,215,289 8.1%

Net position, end of year $ 700,811,841 $ 631,001,685 $ 69,810,156 11.1%

Summary Statements of Revenues, Expenses

Years Ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

Change

and Changes in Net Position

6



STAFF REPORTS\FINANCE\2-2-2026 
PRESENTATION OF FISCAL YEAR 2025 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND SUMMARY OF AUDIT RESULTS  

-5- 

SINGLE AUDIT REPORTS 

The Single Audit Reports present the activity of federal award programs of the Authority for 
the year ended June 30, 2025. The Single Audit Reports include: 

• An unmodified independent auditor’s report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting which indicates that MGO identified no instances of noncompliance,
reportable deficiencies or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

• An independent auditor’s report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program that
provides an unmodified opinion on compliance with requirements applicable to the
Authority’s major program. There were no reportable deficiencies related to
compliance for that program identified. The report also indicated that the Schedule of
Expenditures of Federal Awards is fairly stated in relation to the Basic Financial
Statements as a whole.

• Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

• Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards

• Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs
No findings or questioned costs were noted.

• Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings
N/A – No prior year findings.

PASSENGER FACILITY CHARGE COMPLIANCE REPORT 

The Passenger Facility Charge Compliance Report presents the cash receipts and 
disbursements of the Authority’s Passenger Facility Charge (“PFC”) program. The Aviation 
Safety and Capacity Expansion Act of 1990 authorized the local imposition of Passenger 
Facility Charges and use of the PFC revenue on Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) 
approved projects. 

The PFC compliance report includes the following: 

• An unmodified independent auditor’s report on compliance with applicable
requirements of the PFC program, which indicates that: (i) the Authority complied in all
material respects with compliance requirements applicable to the Passenger Facility
Charge program; (ii) MGO identified no reportable deficiencies in internal control over
compliance; and (iii) the Schedule of Passenger Facility Charge Revenues and
Expenditures is fairly stated in relation to the Basic Financial Statements taken as a
whole.

• Schedule of Passenger Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures

• Notes to Schedule of Passenger Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures

No findings or questioned costs were noted. 

CUSTOMER FACILITY CHARGE COMPLIANCE REPORT 

The Customer Facility Charge Compliance Report presents the cash receipts and 
disbursements of the Authority’s Customer Facility Charge (“CFC”) program.  Assembly Bill 
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491 of the 2001-2002 California Legislature (codified in California Civil Code Section 1936 et 
seq. (“Code”)) authorized the local imposition of CFCs and use of CFC revenue to plan, 
finance, design and construct on-airport consolidated rental car facilities (CRCF). The 
Authority established the CFC effective December 1, 2009 with adoption of Resolution No. 
429. Based on an amendment of the enabling legislation for the CFC (S.B. 1192;
Chapter 642, Statutes of 2010), on December 10, 2010 the Authority approved
Resolution No. 439 which repealed Resolution No. 429 and authorized collection of an
alternative CFC, effective July 1, 2011, of $6 per rental car transaction day up to a maximum
of five days. Resolution No. 439 authorized collection of the alternative CFC through the
period that any debt related to the CRCF is outstanding.

The CFC compliance report includes the following: 

• An unmodified independent auditor’s report on compliance with applicable
requirements of the CFC program, which indicates that: (i) the Authority complied in all
material respects with compliance requirements applicable to the Customer Facility
Charge program; (ii) MGO identified no reportable deficiencies in internal control over
compliance; and (iii) the Schedule of Customer Facility Charge Revenues and
Expenditures is fairly stated in relation to the Basic Financial Statements taken as a
whole.

• Schedule of Customer Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures

• Notes to Schedule of Customer Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures

No findings or questioned costs were noted. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH ASPECTS OF 
CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS (BOND INDENTURE COMPLIANCE) 

Based on audit procedures performed, MGO identified no instances of noncompliance with 
the terms, covenants, provisions or conditions with Section 6.05 (Rates and Charges) to 
Article VI of the Amended and Restated Master Indenture of Trust dated May 1, 2005, and 
amended and restated as of May 1, 2024 with the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company 
insofar as they relate to accounting matters.   
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The report also contains a calculation of the rates and charges ratio and the debt service 
ratio for the year ended June 30, 2025, as follows: 

Revenues $ 90,992,164 
Less operating expenses 62,023,348 

Pledged revenues, net $ 28,968,816 

Transfers to Surplus Fund 1,458,284        

Net revenues plus transfers to Surplus Fund $ 30,427,100 

Deposits and charges:
Accrued debt service - 2012 Airport Revenue Bonds $ 5,833,134        
Deposit of Customer Facility Charge revenue to Debt Service Fund (5,810,980)       
Deposits to operating reserve account 817,044           

Total deposits and charges $ 839,198           

Deposits and charges coverage ratio 36.26 

Required deposits and charges coverage ratio 1.00 

Net revenues plus transfers to Surplus Fund $ 30,427,100 

Net accrued debt service $ 22,154             

Debt service coverage ratio 1,373.42 

Required debt service coverage ratio 1.25 

Rates and Charges Ratio

Debt Service Coverage Ratio

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff seeks the Committee’s recommendation to the Commission that it note and file the 
Basic Financial Statements as of and for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024; 
the Single Audit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2025; the Passenger Facility Charge 
Compliance Report for the year ended June 30, 2025; the Customer Facility Charge 
Compliance Report for the year ended June 30, 2025; the Independent Auditor’s Report on 
Compliance with Aspects of Contractual Agreements (Bond Indenture Compliance) for the 
year ended June 30, 2025; and the Auditor’s Required Communications to the Authority 
regarding the FY 2025 audits.  
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STAFF REPORT PRESENTED TO THE 
BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY 

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE 
FEBRUARY 2, 2026 

AUTHORIZATION TO ENGAGE RATING AGENCIES  
FOR REPLACEMENT PASSENGER TERMINAL PROJECT BONDS 

Presented by John T. Hatanaka 
 Executive Director 

SUMMARY 
Staff seeks a Finance and Administration Committee (“Committee”) recommendation to the 
Commission to:  

(i) approve the engagement of S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”), Moody’s Investors
Services (“Moody’s”), and Fitch Ratings, Inc. (“Fitch”) for the assignment of
bond credit ratings for the Replacement Passenger Terminal (“RPT”) project
bonds, and

(ii) authorize the Executive Director to execute agreements for such
engagements and for the maintenance of the ratings through the term of such
bonds.

BACKGROUND 
The Authority plans to sell bonds (“2026 Bonds”) during the second quarter of 2026 to 
finance the remaining cost of the RPT project.  As with the 2024 bond issue (“2024 Bonds”), 
credit ratings assigned by recognized rating agencies will be essential to the successful 
marketing of the 2026 Bonds.  S&P, Moody’s and Fitch, the three primary bond rating 
agencies in the United States, rated the 2024 Bonds, based on the creditworthiness of the 
Authority.  Each rating agency will require the Authority to execute an engagement 
agreement related to the assignment of rating to the 2026 Bonds and the Authority’s 
obligation to pay one-time and ongoing annual fees (generally called “monitoring fees” or 
“surveillance fees”).  The Authority previously executed similar engagement agreements for 
the 2024 Bonds. 
The Authority’s outstanding bonds are rated “A” by S&P, “A2” by Moody’s and “A-” by Fitch. 
DETAILS 
Each rating agency’s fee for a rating assignment will depend on the principal amount of the 
2026 Bonds, and whether the 2026 Bonds will consist of more than one series.  It is 
anticipated that the 2026 Bonds will be issued in two or three series (to be determined 
based on the recommendations of bond counsel, the municipal advisor, and the 
underwriters). 
Assuming that the total principal amount will be around $390 million (to yield approximately 
$340 million proceeds for the RPT project), and further assuming that the 2026 Bonds will  

6.b.
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be issued in two or more series, the rating agencies’ approximate fees are estimated to be 
as follows: 
S&P:  $145,000 
Moody’s: $155,000 
Fitch:  $140,000 
The 2026 Bonds rating assignment fees are expected to be paid from proceeds of the 2026 
Bonds, after the successful issuance of the 2026 Bonds. 
The Authority also has to pay an annual fee to each rating agency to maintain the rating 
assignment.  The Authority already pays an annual fee for its outstanding bonds, including 
the 2024 Bonds.  According to the rating agencies’ current fee schedules, the amounts of 
annual fees for each agency will remain unchanged as a result of the issuance of the 2026 
Bonds. However, each rating agency has revised its fees over time, including for calendar 
year 2026, and reserves the right to further revise its fees in the future.  The annual fee due 
to each rating agency will be included in the Authority’s annual budget development. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Committee recommend to the Commission: (i) approval of the 
engagement of S&P, Moody’s, and Fitch for the assignment of bond credit ratings for the 
2026 Bonds, and (ii) authorization for the Executive Director to execute agreements for such 
engagements and for the maintenance of the ratings throughout the term of the 2026 Bonds. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

The Honorable Board of Commissioners  
Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
Burbank, California 

Report on the Audits of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority (the 
Authority) as of and for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Authority as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the changes in financial 
position and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Authority, and 
to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to 
our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

The Authority’s management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or 
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known 
information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we:  

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that 
raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters 
that we identified during the audits.  
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, identified as Required Supplementary Information in the table of contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 
and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an 
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with 
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.  
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
December 22, 2025, on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting 
and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant 
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Walnut Creek, California 
December 22, 2025 
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The Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority (Authority) is a separate governmental entity 
created by a Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement (Agreement) executed in June 1977 among the 
Cities of Burbank, Glendale, and Pasadena, California (Cities). The purpose of the Agreement was to 
enable the Cities to acquire, operate, repair, maintain, improve, and administer the Bob Hope Airport, 
commonly known as "Hollywood Burbank Airport" (Airport), as a public air terminal. The Authority is 
governed by a nine member Board of Airport Commissioners, three of whom are appointed by the City 
Council of each of the Cities. The members of the Airport Commission annually elect a President, 
Vice-President, and Secretary of the Commission. The Authority has contracted with TBI Airport 
Management, Inc. (TBI) to perform certain airport administrative, maintenance, operational services, 
and aircraft rescue and firefighting (ARFF) services. 

The management of the Authority presents the following narrative overview of the Authority's financial 
activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. The following discussion and analysis 
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements.

The Authority's report consists of this management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) and the financial 
statements. The MD&A is intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority’s basic financial 
statements. The basic financial statements include the Statements of Net Position, the Statements of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, the Statements of Cash Flows, and the Notes to 
Basic Financial Statements.

The Statements of Net Position present information on all of the Authority’s assets, liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the 
Authority is improving or deteriorating. 

The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position present information showing 
how the Authority’s net position changed during the fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported 
when the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the related 
cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this Statement for some items that will result 
in cash flows in future fiscal periods.

The Statements of Cash Flows present information on the Authority’s inflows and outflows of cash and 
cash equivalents during the fiscal year resulting from operating activities, noncapital financing 
activities, capital and related financing activities, and investing activities.

The Notes to Basic Financial Statements present information that is not displayed on the face of the 
basic financial statements. Such information is essential to a full understanding of the Authority's 
financial activities.

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2025 and 2024
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Overview of the Authority's Operations

Highlights of Airport Activities 

The Airport's Fiscal Year (FY) 2025 total passenger activity of 6,574,819 surpassed historical levels 
representing a 5.75% increase over FY 2024. The strong passenger activity contributed to the positive 
fiscal year financial performance. During FY 2025, the Airport was served by nine air carriers as 
follows: Alaska Airlines, American Airlines, Avelo Airlines, Delta Air Lines, Frontier Airlines, JetBlue 
Airways, Southwest Airlines, Spirit Airlines, and United Airlines. 

The Airport's passenger increase was driven by several factors including a stronger demand for leisure 
travel. The Airlines also initiated additional frequencies and destinations to different markets. 
Compared to previous years, the Airport has experienced a growth in airline competition that has 
provided more options to the travelers utilizing the Airport.

During FY 2025, the $1.3 billion safety related Replacement Passenger Terminal (RPT) project, which 
commenced construction in December 2023, continued to achieve major milestones. In January 2025, 
the final steel beam was hoisted into place, completing the RPT’s steel structure; in February 2025, 
construction of the parking garage began while mechanical, electrical, and plumbing systems were 
installed in the RPT; and in June 2025, installation of the curtain wall system and terrazzo flooring 
began at the RPT while the parking garage continued to rise vertically. The project's Plan of Finance 
includes the proceeds from the 2024 Bond issue, federal grants, a commercial paper program, 
Passenger Facility Charges, Authority funds, and a programmed 2026 Bond issuance for the 
remainder of the project costs. The RPT is currently on schedule and on budget for opening in October 
2026.

The major portion of demand for air travel at the Airport is strongly influenced by local socioeconomic 
characteristics of the Southern California region, and the Airport's proximity to Los Angeles, the San 
Fernando Valley, and Ventura County make it a convenient gateway to many leisure travel destinations 
and important economic sub-regions. While FY 2025 exhibited a positive trend in activity and financial 
performance, the Airport is cognizant that there are potential external influences that may negatively 
impact its future operations. These include the impacts of inflation leading to the potential of an 
economic recession, geopolitical instability leading to increased goods/materials and labor costs, and 
other external factors outside the control of the Airport that may dampen the demand for air travel. 
Despite uncertainties that may occur in the future, the Airport remains geographically well positioned 
for long-term success as a strong origin and destination Airport serving the Southern California Los 
Angeles basin area.

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY
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Passenger and Other Activity

The following table presents a comparative summary of passenger and other activity in FY 2025, 
FY 2024, and FY 2023: 

% increase (decrease)

Description 2025 2024 2023
FY 

2025/24
FY 

2024/23

Commercial carrier flight operations
(takeoffs and landings)  68,799  63,422  63,904 8.5% (0.8)%

Landed weight (in pounds)  4,691,973,760  4,301,739,260  4,433,115,288 9.1 (3.0)

Total passengers  6,574,819  6,217,454  5,973,893 5.7 4.1
Departing passengers (enplaned)  3,279,474  3,120,928  2,979,039 5.1 4.8
Arriving passengers (deplaned)  3,295,345  3,096,526  2,994,854 6.4 3.4

Cargo tonnage (in tons)  37,212  36,739  38,979 1.3 (5.7)

Passenger levels at the Airport increased by 5.7% and 4.1% compared to the prior year in FY 2025 
and 2024, respectively. Of the 6,574,819 and 6,217,454 passengers during FY 2025 and 2024, 
respectively, Southwest Airlines is the largest air carrier serving the Airport with 55.5% and 60.8% of 
total passengers in FY 2025 and 2024, respectively. While Southwest Airlines remains the largest 
commercial air carrier serving the Airport, increased activity by other signatory airlines has reduced 
Southwest's market share.

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY
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The chart below presents the passenger market share by airline for FY 2025, FY 2024, and FY 2023:

Airlines and Percentage of Market Share 
(passengers in thousands)

3,652

904

342 328
566 441

236
43 62 —

3,779

787
381 377 363 290 153 87 — —

3,885

586 421 341 258 193 155 96 30 9

FY 2025 FY 2024 FY 2023

55.5% (2025) 
60.8% (2024) 
65.0% (2023)

Southwest

13.8% (2025) 
12.7% (2024)   
9.8% (2023)

Alaska

5.2% (2025)     
6.1% (2024)     
7.0% (2023)

American

5.0% (2025)     
6.0% (2024)     
5.8% (2023)

Avelo

8.6% (2025)     
5.8% (2024)     
4.3% (2023)

United 

6.7% (2025)     
4.7% (2024)     
3.2% (2023)

Spirit

3.6% (2025)     
2.5% (2024)     
2.6% (2023)

Delta

0.7% (2025)     
1.4% (2024)     
1.6% (2023)
JetBlue (1)

0.9% (2025)     
0.0% (2024)     
0.5% (2023)
Frontier (2)

0.0% (2025)     
0.0% (2024)     
0.2% (2023)

Flair (3)

(1) JetBlue suspended operations from October 2024 to March 2025 and resumed service as of April 2025.
(2) Frontier Airlines became a non-signatory beginning in FY 2023, ceased operations in March 2023, and 
reinstated services as of November 2024.
(3) Flair Airlines ceased operations in November 2022.

The following chart presents the passenger levels by quarter for FY 2025, FY 2024, and FY 2023:

Total Passengers by Fiscal Quarter
(in thousands)
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Commercial Air Carrier Flight Activities

The total number of commercial air carrier flights was 68,799 and 63,422, resulting in an increase of 
8.5% and a decrease of 0.8% from the prior fiscal year for FY 2025 and 2024, respectively. Aircraft 
landed weight increased 9.1% and decreased 3.0% from the prior fiscal year for FY 2025 and 2024, 
respectively. The top three carriers in terms of landed weight were Southwest Airlines, Alaska Airlines, 
and United Airlines. In total, these three airlines contributed 70.8% and 72.2% of the total landed 
weight at the Airport for FY 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

Air Cargo Activities

Freight and mail cargo at the Airport for FY 2025 and 2024 were 37,212 and 36,739 tons, respectively. 
FY 2025 and FY 2024 resulted in an increase of 1.3% and a decrease of 5.7% in air cargo tonnage 
from the prior fiscal year for FY 2025 and 2024, respectively. Federal Express (FedEx) and United 
Parcel Service (UPS) are the top air freight carriers accounting for 95.5% and 95.2% of the total freight 
cargo for FY 2025 and 2024, respectively.    

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY
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Overview of the Authority's Financial Activities
Financial Highlights, Fiscal Year 2025

• Assets exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources (net position) at the close of the 
fiscal year by $700,811,841. 

• Operating revenues were $81,865,485.

• Operating expenses before depreciation and amortization were $61,939,288. 

• Nonoperating revenues, net of nonoperating expenses were $25,598,764, primarily consisting of  
Passenger Facility Charges, Customer Facility Charges, investment income, and noncapital 
grants, reduced by debt service interest expense, other interest and fiscal charges,  bond 
issuance costs, and noncapital Replacement Passenger Terminal project expenses.

• Capital contributions from the Federal Aviation Administration's (FAA) Infrastructure Investment 
and Jobs Act - Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (IIJA-BIL) grants were $38,175,051, and were used 
for Phase 2 design and construction of the Replacement Passenger Terminal project.

• Net position increased by $69,810,156 primarily due to increased operating and nonoperating 
revenues, the Authority's prudent management of expenses, and the increase of federal grant 
funds awarded and used for the construction of the Replacement Passenger Terminal. 

Financial Highlights, Fiscal Year 2024

• Assets exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows of resources (net position) at the close of the 
fiscal year by $631,001,685. 

• Operating revenues were $74,990,094.

• Operating expenses before depreciation and amortization were $58,304,726. 

• Nonoperating revenues, net of nonoperating expenses were $31,073,839, primarily consisting of  
Passenger Facility Charges, Customer Facility Charges, investment income, and noncapital 
grants, reduced by debt service interest expense, other interest and fiscal charges, bond 
issuance costs, and noncapital Replacement Passenger Terminal project expenses.

• Capital contributions from the Federal Aviation Administration's (FAA) Infrastructure Investment 
and Jobs Act - Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (IIJA-BIL) grants were $14,367,792, and were used 
for Phase 1 design and preconstruction of the Replacement Passenger Terminal project.

• Net position increased by $47,215,289 primarily due to increased operating and nonoperating 
revenues, the Authority's prudent management of expenses, and the receipt and use of federal 
grant funds for the design and preconstruction of the Replacement Passenger Terminal.

• In May 2024, the Authority issued 2024 GARBs (2024 Bonds) in the par amount of $724,780,000 
to finance a portion of the Replacement Passenger Terminal project, which began construction in 
December 2023.
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Net Position Summary

A summary of the Airport’s net position as of June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023 is presented below:  

Schedule of Net Position
FY 2025/24 FY 2024/23

increase (decrease) increase (decrease)
2025 2024 2023 Amount % Amount %

Assets:
Current unrestricted assets $ 87,689,238 $ 44,070,690 $ 50,168,631 $ 43,618,548 99.0% $ (6,097,941) (12.2)%
Current restricted assets:
    Cash and investments held
        by bond trustee  389,483,977  747,693,555  15,995,174  (358,209,578) (47.9)  731,698,381 4,574.5
    Other restricted cash and 
        investments  102,470,125  90,765,825  89,090,863  11,704,300 12.9  1,674,962 1.9
    Other restricted receivables  7,671,985  5,974,688  2,452,171  1,697,297 28.4  3,522,517 143.6
Noncurrent unrestricted assets:
    Facility Development Reserve  220,132,453  205,132,453  205,132,453  15,000,000 7.3  — —
    Leases receivable  583,411  3,525,701  6,663,553  (2,942,290) (83.5)  (3,137,852) (47.1)
    Capital assets, net  844,882,693  427,025,433  324,518,102  417,857,260 97.9  102,507,331 31.6
Noncurrent restricted assets:
    Debt service reserve surety  2,671,948  2,764,085  4,728  (92,137) (3.3)  2,759,357 58,362.0

Total assets  1,655,585,830  1,526,952,430  694,025,675  128,633,400 8.4  832,926,755 120.0

Liabilities:
Current liabilities  113,584,736  59,218,092  19,598,063  54,366,644 91.8  39,620,029 202.2
Liabilities payable

from restricted assets  21,612,920  11,435,533  8,245,196  10,177,387 89.0  3,190,337 38.7
Noncurrent liabilities  815,937,431  818,519,943  72,049,628  (2,582,512) (0.3)  746,470,315 1,036.1

Total liabilities  951,135,087  889,173,568  99,892,887  61,961,519 7.0  789,280,681 790.1

Deferred inflows of resources:
Deferred inflows - leases  3,638,902  6,777,177  10,244,382  (3,138,275) (46.3)  (3,467,205) (33.8)
Deferred amount on refunding  —  —  102,010  — —  (102,010) (100.0)

Total deferred inflows of
    resources  3,638,902  6,777,177  10,346,392  (3,138,275) (46.3)  (3,569,215) (34.5)

Net position:
Net investment in capital

assets  340,145,318  250,621,896  252,577,172  89,523,422 35.7  (1,955,276) (0.8)
Restricted, debt service  82,481,217  118,115,788  23,980,877  (35,634,571) (30.2)  94,134,911 392.5
Restricted, capital projects  84,289,166  72,288,115  71,516,622  12,001,051 16.6  771,493 1.1
Restricted, federal asset seizure  26,517  25,702  25,049  815 3.2  653 2.6
Restricted, other purposes  3,652,282  3,568,353  3,484,425  83,929 2.4  83,928 2.4
Unrestricted  190,217,341  186,381,831  232,202,251  3,835,510 2.1  (45,820,420) (19.7)

Total net position $ 700,811,841 $ 631,001,685 $ 583,786,396 $ 69,810,156 11.1% $ 47,215,289 8.1%
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Net Position

Net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the Authority’s financial position at fiscal year-
end. The Authority’s assets exceeded its liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and beginning net 
positions by $69,810,156 and $47,215,289 resulting in ending net positions of $700,811,841 and 
$631,001,685  as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, which continued the Authority's steady 
increase in net position from its June 30, 2023 ending net position of $583,786,396.

The first component of the Authority’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings, runways, etc.), net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, less any related debt and 
liabilities used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding. The Authority uses these capital 
assets to provide services to Airport users and to maintain its operations. Consequently, these assets 
are not available for future spending. Although the Authority’s investment in its capital assets is 
reported net of related debt and liabilities, the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided 
from other sources since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

The second component of the Authority’s net position represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. Of this restricted net position, 48.4%, 60.9%, and 24.2% are for 
repayment of long-term debt and 49.5%, 37.3%, and 72.2% are for construction of capital assets at 
June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023, respectively. A very small percentage of restricted net position, 
comprising less than 0.1% at June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023, is for uses pursuant to the Federal Asset 
Seizure Program. Lastly, 2.1%, 1.8%, and 3.5% are for other restricted purposes.  

The final component is unrestricted net position and may be used to meet the Authority’s ongoing 
obligations to Airport users and creditors. 

Net Position as of June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023
(in millions of dollars)

340.1

170.4

190.2

250.6

194.0

186.4

252.6

99.0

232.2

As of June 30, 2025
As of June 30, 2024
As of June 30, 2023

Net investment in capital assets

Restricted

Unrestricted

The Authority's positive unrestricted net position balance decreased for the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2025 and 2024, as compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, due to a temporary reduction in 
operating cash from payments for the RPT project that will subsequently be reimbursed through RPT 
funding sources. 

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2025 and 2024

(Unaudited)

14



Current Unrestricted Assets

Current unrestricted assets primarily consist of cash and investments in the operating investment 
portfolio and various types of receivables. Current unrestricted cash inflows are from operating 
activities, investment activities, non-capital grants, and federal grant reimbursements for eligible capital 
projects. Unrestricted cash outflows are for operating activities, capital acquisitions, transfers to fiscal 
agents for debt service, and transfers to the unrestricted Facility Development Reserve. 

The Authority's current unrestricted assets increased by $43,618,548, or 99.0%, and decreased by 
$6,097,941, or  12.2%, in FY 2025 and 2024, respectively. The net increase in FY 2025 is primarily 
from an increase in operating cash from positive financial performance and reimbursement of RPT 
project expenses through RPT funding sources, reduced by the transfer of $15,000,000 to the 
unrestricted Facility Development Reserve. The net decrease in FY 2024 reflected a temporary 
reduction in operating cash due to payments for the RPT project that will subsequently be reimbursed 
through RPT funding sources. 

Current Restricted Assets

The Authority’s current restricted assets decreased by $344,807,981, or 40.8%, and increased by 
$736,895,860, or 685.2%, in FY 2025 and 2024, respectively. The net decrease in FY 2025 is primarily 
due to the use of the 2024 Series A and B Bond proceeds for the RPT project. The net increase in FY 
2024 is primarily due to unspent proceeds from the issuance of the 2024 Bonds that will be used to 
finance a portion of the cost of the RPT project. Current restricted assets consist primarily of cash and 
investments held by a trustee that are restricted based on constraints placed on assets through 
external parties such as creditors, grantors, leases, trust agreements, contributors, laws or regulations 
of other governments, or enabling legislation. Current restricted funds are nondiscretionary in terms of 
use and provide for payment of debt service on Authority bonds, reserves for outstanding bonds, 
reserves for operations and maintenance, and construction of long-term assets.

Noncurrent Unrestricted Assets

The Authority's noncurrent unrestricted assets include the Facility Development Reserve, the 
noncurrent portion of lease receivables, and capital assets. 

The Facility Development Reserve was established by the Authority during FY 2000 to provide for the 
development of a replacement terminal and other Airport facilities. The actual appropriation of these 
funds to selected facility development projects is determined based on the approval of the Authority. In 
FY 2025, the Authority transferred $15,000,000 of excess revenues from the current operating fund to 
the Facility Development Reserve. In FY 2024, the Authority did not transfer any funds to the Facility 
Development Reserve.

The noncurrent portion of leases receivable of $583,411 and $3,525,701 as of June 30, 2025 and 
2024, respectively, that was recorded to conform to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 87, 
Leases, which was effective July 1, 2020. The decrease in this balance is due to lease contracts 
reaching maturity with fewer material leases being added due to the anticipated move to the RPT in 
October 2026. 
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The largest portion of the Authority's noncurrent assets are its capital assets, primarily due to the 
ongoing construction of the RPT. A summary of the Airport’s capital assets as of June 30, 2025, 2024, 
and 2023 is presented below:

FY 2025/24 FY 2024/23

increase (decrease) increase (decrease)

Capital assets: 2025 2024 2023 Amount % Amount %

Land $ 160,065,894 $ 160,065,894 $ 160,065,894 $ — —% $ — —%

Other non-depreciable capital assets  1,128,515  1,128,515  1,128,515  — —  — —

Construction in progress  575,603,088  147,756,131  32,649,419  427,846,957 289.6  115,106,712 352.6

Buildings and improvements  257,558,854  256,902,208  255,974,998  656,646 0.3  927,210 0.4

Runways and improvements  160,211,443  160,120,870  159,622,308  90,573 0.1  498,562 0.3

Machinery and equipment  41,486,796  39,501,833  38,711,805  1,984,963 5.0  790,028 2.0

Intangible right to use asset  660,984  660,984  660,984  — —  — —

Less accumulated depreciation and

    amortization  (351,832,881)  (339,111,002)  (324,295,821)  (12,721,879) 3.8  (14,815,181) 4.6

Total capital assets, net $ 844,882,693 $ 427,025,433 $ 324,518,102 $ 417,857,260 97.9% $ 102,507,331 31.6%

The Authority’s net capital assets increased by $417,857,260, or 97.9%, in FY 2025 and increased by 
$102,507,331, or 31.6%, in FY 2024. The increases in FY 2025 and FY 2024 were primarily due to an 
increase in construction in progress related to the RPT project. Total depreciable capital asset 
additions in FY 2025 and 2024 were $3,900,159 and $2,312,329, respectively, and total non-
depreciable capital asset additions, consisting of construction in progress, in FY 2025 and 2024 were 
$431,747,116 and $117,419,041, respectively. Total deletions, including transfers from construction in 
progress to depreciable and non-depreciable capital assets, were $3,900,159 and $2,312,329, 
respectively. 

Significant capital asset additions in FY 2025 include:

• Communication center radio dispatch consoles
• Regional Intermodal Transportation Center public art panels
• Shuttle EV charging station - Lot D
• Hangar building improvements
• Airside pavement rehabilitation
• Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting truck replacement
• Vehicle replacements, including an airfield tractor mower
• IT server infrastructure

Significant capital asset additions in FY 2024 include:

• Runway 8 precision approach pathway indicators navigation and equipment relocation
• Parking improvements - Lot F
• Landside pavement rehabilitation
• Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting vehicle replacement
• Vehicle replacements
• IT server infrastructure
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The Authority had significant contract commitments outstanding as of June 30, 2025 for various capital 
projects totaling $654,870,349, of which approximately 98.6% was for the RPT project with the 
remaining for the Part 150 Noise Study, Runway / Taxiway Shoulder Rehabilitation Design, Building 36 
Security / Ramp Access Doors Replacement, Mobile Police Firearms Training Range, Escalator 
Rehabilitation / Replacement, SEQ Reconfiguration Design, SEQ RPS Reconfiguration Construction, 
and Taxiway A/C Extension Design projects.  

Additional information regarding the Authority's capital assets can be found in note 4 in the 
accompanying notes to the basic financial statements. 

Noncurrent Restricted Assets

The Authority's noncurrent restricted asset is the prepaid 2024 Bonds debt service surety and bond 
insurance. In connection with the issuance of the Authority’s 2024 Bonds, the Authority purchased a 
debt service reserve surety policy in lieu of funding a cash-funded debt service reserve and also 
obtained a municipal bond insurance policy guaranteeing the timely payment of principal and interest 
to bondholders. The up-front premiums paid for the surety and bond insurance are amortized as a 
component of interest expense over the life of the 2024 Bonds. The unamortized portion of the bond 
reserve surety and bond insurance are $2,671,948 and $2,764,085 as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
respectively.

Current Liabilities

Current liabilities increased by $54,366,644, or 91.8%, and $39,620,029, or 202.2%, in FY 2025 
and 2024, respectively. The FY 2025 increase is primarily due to additional vendor accruals, with the 
majority related to the RPT project. The FY 2024 increase was primarily due to additional vendor 
accruals, with the majority related to the RPT project, and unearned revenue primarily related to 
prepayments by tenants and the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) concessions grant.

Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets

Liabilities payable from restricted assets increased by $10,177,387, or 89.0%, in FY 2025 and 
$3,190,337, or 38.7%, in FY 2024. The increase in FY 2025 and FY 2024 reflects a decrease of 
$4,235,000, due to the final maturity of the 2015 Bonds, and an increase of $315,000, respectively, in 
the current portion of principal payable for the 2012 and 2015 Bonds plus the increase in interest 
payable of $14,412,387 and $2,875,337 in FY 2025 and FY 2024, respectively. The large increase in 
interest payable in FY 2025 was due to the accrued interest payable for the 2024 Bonds.

Additional information regarding the Authority's liabilities payable from restricted assets can be found in 
note 5 in the accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Noncurrent Liabilities

A summary of the Airport’s noncurrent liabilities as of June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023 is presented 
below:

FY 2025/24 FY 2024/23

increase (decrease) increase (decrease)

Noncurrent liabilities: 2025 2024 2023 Amount % Amount %

Revenue bonds payable, less 

current portion $ 787,485,000 $ 789,655,000 $ 71,280,000 $ (2,170,000) (0.3)% $ 718,375,000 1,007.8%

Original issue premium, net  27,386,081  28,333,008  589,438  (946,927) (3.3)  27,743,570 4,706.8

Subscription liabilities, noncurrent  26,838  102,227  180,190  (75,389) (73.7)  (77,963) (43.3)

Total long-term liabilities $ 814,897,919 $ 818,090,235 $ 72,049,628 $ (3,192,316) (0.4)% $ 746,040,607 1,035.5%

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Authority's outstanding long-term debt consisted of its outstanding 
2012 (Series A and B) and 2024 (Series A, B, and C) bonds of $787,485,000 and 2012 (Series A and 
B), 2015 (Series B), and 2024 (Series A, B, and C) bonds of $789,655,000, respectively, and 
unamortized premiums of $27,386,081 and $28,333,008, respectively. In FY 2024, the Authority issued 
the 2024 Bonds in the par amount of $724,780,000. 

The Authority's long-term liabilities decreased by $3,192,316, or 0.4%, and increased by 
$746,040,607, or 1,035.5%, in FY 2025 and 2024, respectively. The decrease in FY 2025 includes the 
reclassification of the current portion of the 2012 Bonds of $2,170,000 and amortization of the original 
premium on the 2012 and 2024 Bonds of $946,927, and the reclassification of the current portion of 
the subscription liabilities of $75,389. The increase in FY 2024 is primarily due to  the issuance of the 
2024 Bonds in the par amount of $724,780,000 plus its original issue premium of $28,301,811.

Additional information regarding the Authority's long-term debt can be found in note 5 in the 
accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net assets that applies to future periods that 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Authority's deferred 
inflows of resources consist of resources related to leases measured as the value of the lease 
receivable in addition to any payments received at or before the commencement of the lease term that 
relate to future periods of $3,638,902 and $6,777,177 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.
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Changes in Net Position Summary

A condensed summary of the Authority's changes in net position for fiscal years ended June 30, 2025, 
2024, and 2023 is presented below:

Schedule of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
FY 2025/24 FY 2024/23

increase (decrease) increase (decrease)
2025 2024 2023 Amount % Amount %

Operating revenues $ 81,865,485 $ 74,990,094 $ 72,536,457 $ 6,875,391 9.2% $ 2,453,637 3.4%
Operating expenses  75,829,144  73,216,436  70,348,895  2,612,708 3.6  2,867,541 4.1

Operating income  6,036,341  1,773,658  2,187,562  4,262,683 240.3  (413,904) (18.9)

Nonoperating revenues, net  25,598,764  31,073,839  25,849,947  (5,475,075) (17.6)  5,223,892 20.2

Income before
capital contributions  31,635,105  32,847,497  28,037,509  (1,212,392) (3.7)  4,809,988 17.2

Capital contributions  38,175,051  14,367,792  8,030,233  23,807,259 165.7  6,337,559 78.9

Changes in net position  69,810,156  47,215,289  36,067,742  22,594,867 47.9  11,147,547 30.9

Total net position - beginning  631,001,685  583,786,396  547,718,654  47,215,289 8.1  36,067,742 6.6

Total net position - ending $ 700,811,841 $ 631,001,685 $ 583,786,396 $ 69,810,156 11.1% $ 47,215,289 8.1%

Operating Revenues

The Airport derives its operating revenues from parking operations, aircraft landing fees, concessions, 
tenant rent, and other assessments such as ground transportation access fees and fuel flowage fees.

The following table presents a comparative summary of operating revenues in FY 2025, FY 2024, and 
FY 2023:

Comparative Summary of Operating Revenues
FY 2025/24 FY 2024/23

increase (decrease) increase (decrease)
2025 2024 2023 Amount % Amount %

Parking $ 34,736,135 $ 29,564,588 $ 29,082,523 $ 5,171,547 17.5% $ 482,065 1.7%
Landing fees  4,837,942  4,458,672  4,586,568  379,270 8.5  (127,896) (2.8)
Concessions  15,518,880  14,355,798  13,681,344  1,163,082 8.1  674,454 4.9
Tenant rent  19,907,219  19,861,157  19,514,228  46,062 0.2  346,929 1.8
Ground transportation  4,338,831  4,042,279  3,681,065  296,552 7.3  361,214 9.8
Fuel flowage fees  627,883  928,115  623,058  (300,232) (32.3)  305,057 49.0
Other operating revenues  1,898,595  1,779,485  1,367,671  119,110 6.7  411,814 30.1

Total operating
revenues $ 81,865,485 $ 74,990,094 $ 72,536,457 $ 6,875,391 9.2% $ 2,453,637 3.4%
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The charts below present the distribution of major sources of operating revenues in FY 2025 and 
FY 2024:

FY 2025
Operating Revenues: $81.9 Million

Tenant Rent: 24.3%

Other Revenues: 2.3%

Parking: 42.4%

Ground Transportation: 5.3%

Landing Fees: 5.9%

Concessions: 19.0%

Fuel Flowage Fees: 0.8%

FY 2024
Operating Revenues: $75.0 Million

Tenant Rent: 26.5%

Other Revenues: 2.4%

Parking: 39.4%

Ground Transportation: 5.4%

Landing Fees: 5.9%

Concessions: 19.2%

Fuel Flowage Fees: 1.2%

The chart below presents the comparative summary of operating revenues for FY 2025, FY 2024, and 
FY 2023:

Operating Revenues
Years ended June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023

(in millions)
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In FY 2025, total operating revenues increased by $6,875,391, or 9.2%, primarily due to a combination 
of the following:

(1) increased parking revenues of $5,171,547, primarily due to continued growth in self-park activity 
from increased passengers and parking rate increases implemented July 1, 2024 and January 1, 
2025; 

(2) increased landing fees of $379,270, primarily due to increased air carrier flight operations;  

(3) increased concession fees of $1,163,082, primarily due to increased rental car and in-terminal 
food and sundries concessions activities resulting from increased passenger activity; 

(4) increased ground transportation revenues of $296,552, primarily due a continued increase in 
ride share demand from increased passenger activity;

(5) decreased fuel flowage fees of $300,232, primarily due to a one-time payment received in the 
prior year resulting from a multi-year reconciliation; and

(6) increased other operating revenues of $119,110, primarily due to an increase in revenue from 
third-party aircraft and passenger handling services revenues as a result of increased air carrier and 
passenger activities.

In FY 2024, total operating revenues increased by $2,453,637, or 3.4%, primarily due to a combination 
of the following:

(1) increased parking revenues of $482,065, primarily due to a growth in self-park activity from 
increased passengers; 

(2) decreased landing fees of $127,896, primarily due to decreases in actual commercial carrier 
flight operations and total landed weight; 

(3) increased concession fees of $674,454, primarily due to increased passenger activity;

(4) increased tenant rent of $346,929, primarily due to CPI increases to existing leases reduced by 
termination of certain leases for land required for the RPT project; 

(5) increased ground transportation revenues of $361,214, primarily due to a continued increase in 
ride share demand from increased passenger activity;

(6) increased fuel flowage fees of $305,057, primarily due to a one-time payment received resulting 
from a multi-year reconciliation along with an increase in general aviation activity; and

(7) increased other operating revenues of $411,814, primarily due to a legal settlement payment 
received in FY 2024 and an increase in revenue from third-party aircraft and passenger handling 
services revenues from increased passenger activity.
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Operating Expenses

The following table presents a comparative summary of operating expenses in FY 2025, FY 2024, and 
FY 2023:  

Operating Expenses Summary
FY 2025/24 FY 2024/23

increase (decrease) increase (decrease)
2025 2024 2023 Amount % Amount %

Contracted airport services $ 26,004,872 $ 24,695,925 $ 23,561,851 $ 1,308,947 5.3% $ 1,134,074 4.8%
Salaries and benefits  8,248,807  7,299,875  7,277,119  948,932 13.0  22,756 0.3
Financial services  1,490,087  1,101,142  1,784,813  388,945 35.3  (683,671) (38.3)
Rescue services  4,364,700  4,238,948  3,686,682  125,752 3.0  552,266 15.0
Materials and supplies  553,502  448,886  413,816  104,616 23.3  35,070 8.5
Repairs and maintenance  7,933,452  8,006,357  6,859,440  (72,905) (0.9)  1,146,917 16.7
Utilities  2,293,961  2,132,319  2,008,420  161,642 7.6  123,899 6.2
Professional services  3,615,888  3,370,066  3,028,342  245,822 7.3  341,724 11.3
Insurance  1,528,228  1,487,416  1,341,036  40,812 2.7  146,380 10.9
Other operating expenses  5,905,791  5,523,792  4,894,497  381,999 6.9  629,295 12.9

Operating expenses
  before depreciation
  and amortization  61,939,288  58,304,726  54,856,016  3,634,562 6.2  3,448,710 6.3

Depreciation and amortization  13,889,856  14,911,710  15,492,879  (1,021,854) (6.9)  (581,169) (3.8)
Total operating

  expenses $ 75,829,144 $ 73,216,436 $ 70,348,895 $ 2,612,708 3.6% $ 2,867,541 4.1%

The charts below present the distribution of operating expenses in FY 2025 and FY 2024:   

FY 2025
Operating Expenses: $75.8 Million

Contracted airport
services: 34.3%

Materials and
supplies: 0.7%

Salaries and
benefits: 10.9%

Financial services: 2.0%
Rescue services: 5.8%

Repairs and maintenance: 10.5%

Utilities: 3.0%

Professional services: 4.8%

Insurance: 2.0%

Other operating
expenses: 7.7%

Depreciation and amortization: 18.3%

FY 2024
Operating Expenses: $73.2 Million

Contracted airport
services: 33.8%

Materials and
supplies: 0.6%

Salaries and
benefits: 10.0%

Financial services: 1.5%

Rescue services: 5.8%
Repairs and maintenance: 10.9%

Utilities: 2.9%

Professional services: 4.6%

Insurance: 2.0%

Other operating
expenses: 7.5%

Depreciation and amortization: 20.4%
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The chart below presents the comparative summary of operating expenses for FY 2025, FY 2024, and 
FY 2023:

Operating Expenses
Years ended June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023

(in millions)
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Total operating expenses increased by $2,612,708, or 3.6%, in FY 2025 primarily due to a combination 
of the following:

(1) increased contracted airport services of $1,308,947, primarily due to the filling of both vacant 
and approved additional airport personnel positions;

(2) increased salaries and benefits of $948,932, due to the terms of the memorandum of 
understanding with the Burbank Airport Police Officers Association effective February 1, 2023, and 
increased worker's compensation insurance premiums;

(3) increased financial services expenses of $388,945, primarily due to a one-time refund received 
in the prior year from the Airport's parking pre-booking operator to credit back excess fees 
previously collected, and an increase in credit card transaction fees from increased parking activity; 

(4) increased cost for professional services of $245,822, primarily due to increased traffic safety 
expenses associated with additional service area requirements and an annual CPI adjustment;

(5) increased other operating expenses of $381,999, due to additional parking tax paid to the City of 
Burbank from positive parking revenue activity; and

(6) decreased depreciation and amortization expense of $1,021,854, primarily due to capital assets 
depreciated in FY 2024 exceeding the impact of new capital asset additions in FY 2025.
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Total operating expenses increased by $2,867,541, or 4.1%, in FY 2024 primarily due to a combination 
of the following:

(1) increased contracted airport services of $1,134,074, primarily due to the filling of both vacant 
and approved airport personnel positions;

(2) decreased financial services expenses of $683,671, primarily due to a decrease in processing 
fees from the Airport's parking pre-booking program due to the transition in parking operator; 

(3) increased cost for aircraft rescue and firefighting services of $552,266, due to the terms of the 
collective bargaining agreement with the Burbank Airport Professional Firefighters IAFF Local 1-61 
Union effective July 1, 2023;

(4) increased repairs and maintenance costs of $1,146,917, primarily due to increased maintenance 
and janitorial costs resulting from increased passenger activity;   

(5) increased other operating expenses of $629,295, primarily due to costs associated with the FAA 
triennial exercise conducted in FY 2024 and additional parking tax paid to the City of Burbank due 
to positive parking revenue activity; and

(6) decreased depreciation and amortization expense of $581,169, primarily due to capital assets 
depreciated in FY 2023 exceeding the impact of new capital asset additions in FY 2024.
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Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

The following summary presents a comparison of nonoperating revenues and expenses in FY 2025, 
FY 2024, and FY 2023:

Comparative Summary of Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses
FY 2025/24 FY 2024/23

increase (decrease) increase (decrease)
2025 2024 2023 Amount % Amount %

Nonoperating revenues:
PFC revenues $ 16,813,453 $ 15,932,930 $ 12,882,716 $ 880,523 5.5% $ 3,050,214 23.7%
CFC revenues  5,913,505  5,397,765  5,035,162  515,740 9.6  362,603 7.2
Investment income  46,748,430  17,530,285  3,781,146  29,218,145 166.7  13,749,139 363.6
Interest income  173,823  267,547  393,501  (93,724) (35.0)  (125,954) (32.0)
Gain on retirement of

capital assets  35,677  110,515  13,123  (74,838) (67.7)  97,392 742.1
Other noncapital grants  492,992  768,236  8,147,212  (275,244) (35.8)  (7,378,976) (90.6)

 70,177,880  40,007,278  30,252,860  30,170,602 75.4  9,754,418 32.2
Nonoperating expenses:

Interest expense, debt
service  38,031,050  6,380,411  3,735,875  31,650,639 496.1  2,644,536 70.8

Other interest and fiscal
    charges  2,066,188  8,730  11,273  2,057,458 23,567.7  (2,543) (22.6)
Bond issuance costs  1,738,637  2,252,292  —  (513,655) (22.8)  2,252,292 N/A
Sound insulation program  —  —  180  — N/A  (180) (100.0)
Replacement terminal

development  2,743,241  292,006  655,585  2,451,235 839.4  (363,579) (55.5)
 44,579,116  8,933,439  4,402,913  35,645,677 399.0  4,530,526 102.9

Total nonoperating
revenues 
(expenses), net $ 25,598,764 $ 31,073,839 $ 25,849,947 $ (5,475,075) (17.6)% $ 5,223,892 20.2%

Nonoperating revenues of $70,177,880 and $40,007,278 in FY 2025 and FY 2024, respectively, 
consist of PFC revenues, CFC revenues, net investment income, gain on retirement of capital assets, 
and other noncapital grants (capital grant revenues are included in capital contributions). 

In FY 2025, nonoperating revenues net of nonoperating expenses decreased by $5,475,075, or 
17.6%, primarily due to a combination of the following:

(1) increased PFC revenues of $880,523, primarily due to increases in enplaned passengers, 
interest income from the PFC investment portfolio, and the unrealized gain from the fair valuation of 
investments in the PFC investment portfolio;

(2) increased CFC revenues of $515,740, due to an increase in rental car activity;
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(3) increased investment income of $29,218,145, due to increases in interest income from the 
Operating investment portfolio, the unrealized gain from the fair valuation of the Operating 
investment portfolio, and Trustee interest revenue; 

(4) increased debt service interest expense of $31,650,639, primarily due to the interest expense 
accrual for the 2024 Bonds;

(5) increased other interest and fiscal charges of $2,057,458, due to quarterly maintenance fees 
associated with the Authority's commercial paper program as part of the RPT Plan of Finance;

(6) decreased bond issuance costs of $513,655, due to the decrease in financial support service 
expenditures associated with the prior-period issuance of the 2024 Bonds; and

(7) increased replacement passenger terminal development expenses of $2,451,235, due to an 
increase in non-capital RPT related professional services costs.

In FY 2024, nonoperating revenues net of nonoperating expenses increased by $5,223,892, or 20.2%, 
primarily due to a combination of the following:

(1) increased PFC revenues of $3,050,214, primarily due to increases in enplaned passengers, 
interest income from the PFC investment portfolio, and the unrealized gain from the fair valuation of 
investments in the PFC investment portfolio;

(2) increased CFC revenues of $362,603, due to an increase in rental car activity;

(3) increased investment income of $13,749,139, due to increases in interest income from the 
Operating investment portfolio and the fair value of the Operating investment portfolio; 

(4) decreased other noncapital grants of $7,378,976, primarily due to the end of the COVID-19 
pandemic federal relief grants for eligible noncapital costs;

(5) increased debt service interest expense of $2,644,536, primarily due to the interest expense 
accrual for the 2024 Bonds issued on May 30, 2024;

(6) increased bond issuance costs of $2,252,292, due to the issuance of the 2024 Bonds; and 

(7) decreased replacement terminal development expenses of $363,579, due to a decrease in non-
capital RPT related professional services costs.

Capital Contributions

Capital contributions amounting to $38,175,051 and $14,367,792 were recorded in FY 2025 and 
FY 2024, respectively. In FY 2025, these amounts represent FAA IIJA-BIL grants for the continued 
design and construction of the Replacement Passenger Terminal project and a FAA AIP grant for the 
purchase of an ARFF truck replacement. In FY 2024, these amounts represent FAA IIJA-BIL grants for 
the design and preconstruction of the Replacement Passenger Terminal project. 
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Replacement Passenger Terminal Project

On August 1, 2016, the City of Burbank approved a Development Agreement associated with 
entitlement of the RPT project and on November 8, 2016, voters in the City of Burbank passed 
Measure B (70% approval) allowing for the development of a RPT at the Airport. The RPT project, as 
defined in the Development Agreement between the City of Burbank and the Authority, includes a 14-
gate replacement passenger terminal of 355,000 square feet, associated aircraft ramp, public and staff 
parking facilities, ground service equipment and cargo support facilities, a new terminal loop roadway, 
and demolition of the existing 14-gate passenger terminal. 

Since the passage of Measure B, the Authority has advanced the RPT project through key regulatory, 
planning, and financial milestones, including securing conditional FAA approval of the Airport Layout 
Plan, completing the NEPA Environmental Impact Statement, validating the project concept and cost, 
conducting public charrettes, selecting a program manager and progressive design-build team, and 
establishing both interim and federal funding sources while developing a long-term financing plan.

The Authority reinstated this important safety project in September 2021 after an 18-month suspension 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. In May 2022, Jacobs Project Management Co. assumed program 
management responsibilities of the project. On December 19, 2022, the Authority awarded a 
progressive design-build agreement to Holder, Pankow, TEC Joint Venture (HPTJV). In April 2023, the 
Authority selected the "Icon" design concept, and on January 25, 2024, the Authority broke ground on 
the project. On May 6, 2024, the Authority approved HPTJV's guaranteed maximum price (GMP) of 
$1.11 billion, with a total project budget of $1.3 billion.

RPT project funding is supported by a combination of General Airport Revenue Bonds (GARBs), FAA 
AIP and IIJA-BIL grants, Passenger Facility Charges (PFC), and the Authority’s Facility Development 
Reserve Fund. On May 30, 2024, the Authority issued $724.8 million in bonds to finance much of the 
project and related costs, while federal awards through October 2025 total $96.7 million in IIJA–BIL 
and AIP grants. The Authority has approval to use $61.7 million in PFC revenue, for project design 
and, in part, to serve as the local match for the IIJA–BIL grants supporting the RPT project. The 
Authority also has standby letters of credit of $200 million that have not yet been utilized. Additional 
federal funding continues to be pursued, with the final FY 2026 bond issuance anticipated in             
Q4 FY 2026.

In FY 2025, the RPT project advanced through several major construction milestones, including the 
placement of the final steel beam onto the terminal building, progressing building enclosure and 
interior systems, and making steady headway on site civil and utility work. Design and permitting 
phases were finalized, allowing construction to transition fully into vertical and interior development. By 
June 2025, the terminal’s primary structure was fully in place, the parking garage basement was 
complete, and overall progress remained on schedule with a planned October 2026 opening. 

Additional information regarding the Authority's RPT project can be found in note 13 in the 
accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances for all 
interested parties. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for 
additional financial information should be addressed to the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport 
Authority, 2627 N. Hollywood Way, Burbank, California, 91505. 
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BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY
Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2025 and 2024

Assets 2025 2024
Current unrestricted assets:

Cash and investments – operating fund (note 3) $ 59,790,629 $ 27,276,938 
Grants receivable  12,557,898  1,779,528 
Leases receivable (note 7)  3,055,491  3,251,476 
Accounts receivable  4,034,637  7,995,050 
Accrued interest receivable  7,918,493  3,487,067 
Prepaid expenses  332,090  280,631 

Total current unrestricted assets  87,689,238  44,070,690 

Current restricted assets:
Cash and investments (note 3):

Cash and investments held by bond trustee  389,483,977  747,693,555 
Other restricted cash and investments:

Operating Reserve Fund  16,101,125  15,284,081 
Bond Surplus Fund  1,459,500  2,601,563 
Authority Areas Reserve  3,652,282  3,568,353 
Asset Forfeiture Fund  26,517  25,702 
Proceeds from sale of Airport property  2,104,502  2,104,502 
Facility Rent Reserve  1,651,914  620,952 
Passenger Facility Charge Fund  75,905,446  64,950,519 
Customer Facility Charge Fund  1,568,839  1,610,153 

Total other restricted cash and investments  102,470,125  90,765,825 

Total current restricted cash and investments  491,954,102  838,459,380 

Passenger Facility Charge receivables  1,076,994  1,674,685 
Customer Facility Charge receivables  538,312  503,575 
Accrued interest receivable  6,056,679  3,796,428 

Total current restricted assets  499,626,087  844,434,068 

Noncurrent unrestricted assets:
     Cash and investments – Facility Development Reserve (note 3)  220,132,453  205,132,453 

Leases receivable (note 7)  583,411  3,525,701 
     Capital assets (note 4):

Land  160,065,894  160,065,894 
Other nondepreciable capital assets  1,128,515  1,128,515 
Construction in progress  575,603,088  147,756,131 
Buildings and improvements  257,558,854  256,902,208 
Runways and improvements  160,211,443  160,120,870 
Machinery and equipment  41,486,796  39,501,833 
Intangible right to use asset (note 8)  660,984  660,984 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization  (351,832,881)  (339,111,002) 

Total capital assets, net  844,882,693  427,025,433 

Total noncurrent unrestricted assets  1,065,598,557  635,683,587 

Noncurrent restricted assets:
     2024 Bonds debt service reserve surety and bond insurance (note 5)  2,671,948  2,764,085 

Total assets $ 1,655,585,830 $ 1,526,952,430 
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BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY
Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2025 and 2024

(Continued)

Liabilities 2025 2024
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 107,656,432 $ 49,243,486 
Salaries and benefits payable  261,776  239,307 
Unearned revenue  3,159,663  6,801,314 
Customer deposits  1,874,487  1,862,376 
Compensated absences, current  556,989  993,646 
Subscription liabilities, current (note 8)  75,389  77,963 

Total current liabilities  113,584,736  59,218,092 

Liabilities payable from restricted assets:
Current portion of long-term debt (note 5)  2,170,000  6,405,000 
Accrued interest payable  19,442,920  5,030,533 

Total liabilities payable from restricted assets  21,612,920  11,435,533 

Noncurrent liabilities:
Revenue bonds payable, less current portion (note 5)  787,485,000  789,655,000 
Original issue premium, net (note 5)  27,386,081  28,333,008 
Compensated absences, noncurrent  1,039,512  429,708 
Subscription liabilities, noncurrent (note 8)  26,838  102,227 

Total noncurrent liabilities  815,937,431  818,519,943 

Total liabilities  951,135,087  889,173,568 

Deferred Inflows of Resources

Deferred inflows - leases (note 7)  3,638,902  6,777,177 

Total deferred inflows of resources  3,638,902  6,777,177 

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets  340,145,318  250,621,896 
Restricted:

Debt service  82,481,217  118,115,788 
Capital projects  84,289,166  72,288,115 
Federal asset seizure  26,517  25,702 
Other purposes  3,652,282  3,568,353 

Unrestricted  190,217,341  186,381,831 

Total net position $ 700,811,841 $ 631,001,685 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY
Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

2025 2024
Operating revenues:

Charges for services:
Parking $ 34,736,135 $ 29,564,588 
Landing fees  4,837,942  4,458,672 
Concessions  15,518,880  14,355,798 

Tenant rent  19,907,219  19,861,157 
Ground transportation  4,338,831  4,042,279 
Fuel flowage fees  627,883  928,115 
Other operating revenues  1,898,595  1,779,485 

Total operating revenues  81,865,485  74,990,094 

Operating expenses:
Contracted airport services  26,004,872  24,695,925 
Salaries and benefits  8,248,807  7,299,875 
Financial services  1,490,087  1,101,142 
Rescue services  4,364,700  4,238,948 
Materials and supplies  553,502  448,886 
Repairs and maintenance  7,933,452  8,006,357 
Utilities  2,293,961  2,132,319 
Professional services  3,615,888  3,370,066 
Insurance  1,528,228  1,487,416 
Other operating expenses  5,905,791  5,523,792 

Total operating expenses before depreciation and amortization  61,939,288  58,304,726 

Operating income before depreciation and amortization  19,926,197  16,685,368 

Depreciation and amortization (note 4)  13,889,856  14,911,710 

Operating income  6,036,341  1,773,658 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Passenger Facility Charge revenue, including interest (note 9)  16,813,453  15,932,930 
Customer Facility Charge revenue (note 10)  5,913,505  5,397,765 
Investment income, net  46,748,430  17,530,285 
Interest income (note 7)  173,823  267,547 
Interest expense, debt service  (38,031,050)  (6,380,411) 
Other interest and fiscal charges  (2,066,188)  (8,730) 
Bond issuance costs  (1,738,637)  (2,252,292) 
Gain on retirement of capital assets  35,677  110,515 
Other noncapital grants (note 12d)  492,992  768,236 
Replacement terminal development  (2,743,241)  (292,006) 

Total nonoperating revenues, net  25,598,764  31,073,839 

Income before capital contributions  31,635,105  32,847,497 

Capital contributions (note 12d)  38,175,051  14,367,792 

Changes in net position  69,810,156  47,215,289 

Total net position – beginning of year  631,001,685  583,786,396 

Total net position – end of year $ 700,811,841 $ 631,001,685 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY
Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024

2025 2024

Cash flows from operating activities:
Cash received from airline carriers, tenants, and others $ 82,196,584 $ 75,193,337 
Cash paid to suppliers of goods and services  (49,765,367)  (48,092,822) 
Cash paid for employees’ services  (8,053,191)  (7,103,435) 
Cash paid for parking taxes to the City of Burbank  (3,549,392)  (3,100,781) 
Cash paid for replacement terminal development  (2,743,241)  (292,006) 
Cash paid from settlement for hangar floors  (9,847)  (25,440) 

Net cash provided by operating activities  18,075,546  16,578,853 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
Other noncapital grants  516,986  1,361,325 

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities  516,986  1,361,325 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Acquisition of capital assets  (373,819,444)  (82,179,765) 
Proceeds from sale of capital assets  35,677  110,515 
Principal paid on revenue bonds  (6,405,000)  (6,090,000) 
Interest paid on revenue bonds  (24,473,453)  (4,152,663) 
Interest paid on subscriptions  (6,096)  (8,730) 
Interest received on leases  173,823  267,547 
Non-interest fiscal charges  (2,060,092)  — 
Proceeds from sale of bonds  —  753,081,811 
Prepaid bond surety and insurance  —  (2,772,019) 
Cash paid for bond issuance costs  (1,748,887)  (2,242,042) 
Passenger Facility Charge program receipts  13,694,604  12,612,936 
Customer Facility Charge program receipts  5,878,768  5,330,885 
Capital contributions received  27,372,688  13,742,510 

Net cash provided by (used in) capital and related financing activities  (361,357,412)  687,700,985 

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received on investments  32,872,414  6,841,716 
Purchases of investments not considered cash equivalents  (56,817,019)  (738,076,816) 
Proceeds from the sale or maturity of investments not considered cash equivalents  359,946,230  44,773,309 

Net cash used in investing activities  336,001,625  (686,461,791) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (6,763,255)  19,179,372 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  56,346,585  37,167,213 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 49,583,330 $ 56,346,585 
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BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY
Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024
(Continued)

2025 2024

Reconciliation of operating income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Operating income $ 6,036,341 $ 1,773,658 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization  13,889,856  14,911,710 
Other nonoperating expenses  (2,743,241)  (292,006) 
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable  3,960,413  (4,680,340) 
Prepaid expenses  (51,459)  143,582 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  417,560  (357,797) 
Salaries and benefits payable  22,469  37,253 
Compensated absences  173,147  159,186 
Unearned revenue  (3,641,651)  4,674,318 
Customer deposits  12,111  209,290 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 18,075,546 $ 16,578,854 

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to the statements of net position:
Operating fund $ 59,790,629 $ 27,276,938 
Restricted cash and investments  491,954,102  838,459,380 
Facility Development Reserve  220,132,453  205,132,453 

Cash, cash equivalents, and investments  771,877,184  1,070,868,771 

Investments not considered cash equivalents  (722,293,854)  (1,014,522,186) 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year (note 3) $ 49,583,330 $ 56,346,585 

Summary of significant noncash capital, investing and financing activities:
Amortization of original issue premiums $ (946,927) $ (558,241) 
Amortization of 2005 Bonds deferred amount on refunding  —  (102,010) 
Change in fair value of investments  (10,900,878)  (8,738,374) 
Capital assets acquired by accounts payable  (100,942,358)  (42,936,721) 
Net change in lease receivable on lessor lease transactions  3,138,275  3,467,205 
Net change in grants receivable related to federal awards  (10,778,370)  (32,193) 

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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(1) Nature of Authority

The Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority (Authority) is a separate governmental entity 
created by a Joint Exercise of Power Agreement (Agreement) executed in June 1977 among the 
Cities of Burbank, Glendale, and Pasadena, California (Cities). The purpose of the Agreement 
was to enable the Cities to acquire, operate, repair, maintain, improve, and administer the Bob 
Hope Airport, commonly known as the "Hollywood Burbank Airport" (Airport), as a public air 
terminal. The Authority is governed by a nine-member Board of Airport Commissioners, three of 
whom are appointed by the City Council of each of the Cities. The members of the Airport 
Commission annually elect a President, Vice-President, and Secretary of the Commission. The 
Authority has contracted with TBI Airport Management, Inc. (TBI) to perform certain airport 
administrative, maintenance, operational services and aircraft rescue and firefighting (ARFF) 
services. These contracted services are included in the Authority’s statements of revenues, 
expenses, and changes in net position as “contracted airport services” except for ARFF services 
which is included as “rescue services.” As required under the State of California Constitution, the 
Authority directly employs its law enforcement officers.

The debts, liabilities, and obligations of the Authority do not constitute debts, liabilities, or 
obligations of the Cities. The accompanying basic financial statements are not included in the 
reporting entity of any of the Cities.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The basic financial statements of the Authority have been prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). The Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing 
accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant of the Authority’s accounting 
policies are described below:

(a)  Basis of Accounting

The Authority reports its financial operations as an enterprise activity, and as such, its 
financial statements are presented using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recognized when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. The 
measurement focus is on determination of changes in net position, financial position, and 
cash flows. Operating revenues include charges for services and tenant rent. Operating 
expenses include costs of services as well as materials, contracts, personnel, and 
depreciation. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements have been met.

(b)  Description of Basic Financial Statements

Statements of Net Position – The statements of net position are designed to display the 
financial position of the Authority including its assets, deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. 
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The Authority’s equity is reported as net position, which is classified into three categories 
defined as follows:

• Net investment in capital assets – This component of net position consists of capital 
assets, net of accumulated depreciation, and is reduced by the outstanding balances 
of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets.

• Restricted – This component of net position consists of restricted assets reduced by 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources related to those assets. Those assets are 
restricted due to external constraints imposed by creditors (such as through debt 
covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. At June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
net positions of $84,195,884 and $72,891,832, respectively, are restricted by 
enabling legislation.

• Unrestricted – This component of net position consists of net position that do not 
meet the definition of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – The statements of 
revenues, expenses and changes in net position are the operating statements for the 
Authority. Revenues are reported by major source. This statement distinguishes between 
operating and nonoperating revenues and expenses and presents a separate subtotal for 
operating revenues, operating expenses before depreciation, and operating income (loss).

Statements of Cash Flows – The statements of cash flows present information on the 
Authority’s cash receipts and payments during the fiscal year. These cash flows are 
grouped into five categories: operating activities, noncapital financing activities, capital and 
related financing activities, investing activities and noncash investing and financing 
activities.

Notes to Basic Financial Statements – The notes to the basic financial statements provide 
additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
basic financial statements.

(c) Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

The Authority distinguishes between operating revenues and expenses and nonoperating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing goods and 
services to Airport users. The principal operating revenues of the Airport are parking fees, 
landing fees, concession charges, tenant rent, ground transportation, and fuel flowage fees. 
Operating expenses include contracted airport services, salaries and employee benefits, 
maintenance and operation of systems and facilities, administrative expenses including 
compliance with federal, state and local regulatory requirements, and depreciation on 
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
nonoperating revenues and expenses.
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(d) Restricted Assets

Certain assets are restricted based on constraints placed on the asset's use through 
external constraints imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, 
leases, trust agreements, contributors, laws or regulations of other governments, or 
enabling legislation. Restricted funds are nondiscretionary in terms of use and provide for 
payment of debt service on Authority bonds, reserves for outstanding bonds, construction of 
long-term assets and operations, and maintenance. The Authority, after necessary fund 
transfers have been made to comply with bond covenants, has discretion as to the 
magnitude and use of the remaining unrestricted funds.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Authority’s 
policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.

(e) Grants and Capital Contributions

The Authority receives grants under the Airport Improvement Program (AIP) from the U.S. 
Department of Transportation – Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) to finance certain 
capital improvements. Additionally, the Authority utilized awarded federal grants from the 
Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA), also known as the Bipartisan Infrastructure 
Law (BIL), which are administered by the FAA through the AIP.

Such grants related to capital acquisitions are recorded on the statements of revenues, 
expenses and changes in net position as capital contributions, and for noncapital purposes 
as nonoperating revenue other noncapital grants. Grant revenues are recognized when 
qualifying expenses under the grant are incurred.

(f) Passenger Facility Charge Revenues

The Authority imposes a Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) of $4.50 per enplaned 
passenger, as approved by the FAA, to finance certain capital improvements. Cash and 
receivables from such revenues are maintained in separate accounts and are restricted for 
approved airport improvement projects. Revenues are recognized during the period earned. 

(g) Customer Facility Charge Revenues

The Authority imposes a Customer Facility Charge (CFC) on all rental car contracts 
transacted at the Airport in accordance with California Civil Code 1936 et. seq., as 
amended. The current applicable charge is $6.00 per day up to a maximum of five days per 
transaction. Under the Master Indenture of Trust, as amended and restated, revenues 
generated on/after July 1, 2014 are used solely for the purposes of repayment of the debt 
obligations incurred to develop the Consolidated Rental Car Facility (CRCF) located in the 
Regional Intermodal Transportation Center (RITC) of the Airport.  Cash and receivables 
from such revenues are maintained in separate accounts and are recognized during the 
period in which they are earned.
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(h) Revenues and Cash Accounts

All revenues, except PFCs and CFCs (CFCs collected are transferred to the 2012 Bonds 
Debt Service Fund), are deposited in the Revenue Fund and are transferred to the following 
cash accounts in priority order as mandated by resolution of the Authority and its bond 
indenture:

• Operating Fund – The balance in this fund is to be used for payment of operations 
and maintenance costs as they become due and payable.

• Rebate Fund – Amounts on deposit in the Rebate Fund shall be applied to satisfy 
federal tax law requirements. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, there was no balance in 
the Rebate Fund. 

• Debt Service Funds – Bond interest currently payable on the 2012 and 2015 Bonds 
is deposited to each bond issue’s debt service fund monthly prior to each semiannual 
payment. Currently payable bond principal on the 2012 and 2015 Bonds is transferred 
to each bond issue’s debt service fund monthly prior to each annual payment. These 
cash funds are held by a trustee who pays the bond interest and principal when due. 
The balance in the Debt Service Funds at June 30, 2025 and 2024 is $5,494,700 and 
$5,217,887, respectively, for the 2012 Bonds, and $0 and $4,707,667, respectively, 
for the 2015 Bonds. 

CFCs, as received, and RITC Facility Rents, as needed, are deposited to the 2012 
Bonds Debt Service Fund each month prior to each semiannual interest and each 
annual bond principal payment currently payable.

• Debt Service Reserve Funds – An amount equal to the lesser of (i) ten percent of 
the initial offering price of the Revenue Bonds, (ii) greatest annual debt service from 
the current period to the maturity of the Revenue Bonds, or (iii) 125% of average 
annual debt service from the current period to the maturity of the Revenue Bonds, is 
to be held by the trustee in these funds to be used in the event that monies in the 
respective Debt Service Funds are insufficient to meet payments when due. A debt 
service reserve surety in an amount of $3,664,397 and equal to 10% of the original 
offering price was obtained for the 2015 Bonds in lieu of a debt service reserve fund. 
Additionally, a debt service reserve surety in an amount of $48,607,907 was obtained 
for the 2024 Bonds in lieu of a debt service reserve fund. During the years ended 
June 30, 2025 and 2024, the required balance in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, 
calculated using the greatest annual debt service from the current period to the 
maturity of the Revenue Bonds, is $5,838,000 for the 2012 Bonds. The residual 
balance in the Debt Service Reserve Fund that was left over from the refunding of the 
2005 Bonds at June 30, 2025 and 2024 is $0 and $166,162, respectively. The 
balance in the Debt Service Reserve Fund for the 2012 Bonds at June 30, 2025 and 
2024 is $7,032,698 and $6,714,925, respectively. 

• Operating Reserve Fund – The balance in this fund is to be used to pay operation 
and maintenance costs in the event that monies in the Operating Fund are 
insufficient. The Authority maintains a reserve equivalent to one-fourth of the annual 
operations and maintenance budget. The balance in the Operating Reserve Fund at 
June 30, 2025 and 2024 is $16,101,125 and $15,284,081, respectively.
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• Subordinated Indebtedness Fund – In the event that additional debt is incurred, 
which is expressly made subordinate or junior in right of payment to the 2015 Bonds 
or 2012 Bonds, this fund will be established and used to pay principal, interest, and 
other allowable costs associated with the subordinated indebtedness. As of June 30, 
2025 and 2024, there was no balance in the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund.

• Reserve and Contingency Fund – The balance in this fund is to be used to pay the 
costs of extraordinary repairs and replacements of Airport facilities to the extent that 
such costs are not provided from the proceeds of insurance or from other funds. Any 
remaining balances in the Reserve and Contingency Fund, not required to meet any 
deficiencies in the Debt Service Fund or Debt Service Reserve Funds or not needed 
for any of the purposes for which such Fund was established, shall be transferred to 
the Operating Fund, and any remaining excess may be deposited in the Surplus 
Fund. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, there was no balance in the Reserve and 
Contingency Fund.

• Surplus Fund – All monies remaining in the Revenue Fund at year-end are to be 
deposited in this fund and may be transferred to offset other fund deficiencies in the 
following priority order: first in the Debt Service Fund, second in the applicable Debt 
Service Reserve Fund, third to the Subordinated Indebtedness Fund, and fourth to the 
Reserve and Contingency Fund. Amounts in the Surplus Fund not required to meet a 
deficiency as set forth above shall be applied or set aside as allowed for in the bond 
indenture. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, there was $1,459,500 and $2,601,563, 
respectively, in the Surplus Fund to be transferred to any of the funds mentioned 
above. Amounts transferred to the Surplus Fund may be used for purposes of 
computation of the debt service coverage ratio. 

• Cost of Issuance Funds – The balance in this fund provides for the payment of costs 
to issue the 2012, 2015, and 2024 Bonds not paid directly from escrow at the closing 
of the sale of the respective bonds. This fund is held by a trustee and is subject to the 
terms and conditions as set forth in the bond indenture. As of June 30, 2025 and 
2024, there is $0 and $22,928, respectively, in the Cost of Issuance Funds pertaining 
to the 2024 Bonds.

• Construction Funds – The balance in this fund provides for the payment of 
applicable Capital Improvements identified to be financed from the 2012 Series A 
and B Bonds, the 2015 Series A and B Bonds, and the 2024 Series A and B Bonds. 
These funds are held by a trustee and are subject to the terms and conditions as set 
forth in the bond indenture. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, there are $74 and $70 for 
the 2012 Series A and B Bonds and $302,701,212 and $638,667,653 for the 2024 
Series A and B  Bonds.

(i) Other Cash Accounts

The Authority maintains the following additional restricted cash:

• Authority Areas Reserve Fund – Operating revenues received from certain areas 
specified in the airline signatory leases are set aside to be utilized at the discretion of 
the Authority for any lawful purpose.
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• Asset Forfeiture Fund – The Authority receives funds from the U.S. Department of 
Justice, U.S. Department of Treasury and the State of California Department of 
Justice under the equitable sharing programs of each agency related to certain law 
enforcement activities. These assets are used to purchase certain equipment to 
supplement law enforcement activities at the Airport.  

• Proceeds from Sale of Airport Property Fund – Proceeds from the sale of Airport 
property is set aside to be used for similar income producing means in accordance 
with the Master Indenture of Trust, as amended and restated.

• Facility Rent Reserve – In accordance with the on-airport rental car lease and 
concessions agreement between the Authority and each rental car company (RAC) 
operating within the CRCF, all facility rent revenues received from the RACS are 
required to be used by the Authority to supplement any shortfall for the repayment of 
the debt obligations incurred to develop the CRCF. Excess facility rent revenues may 
be used for other allowable expenses as defined in the agreement with the RACs.

• Passenger Facility Charge Fund – Cash from the PFC program are maintained in a 
separate account and are restricted for approved airport improvement projects. 

• Customer Facility Charge Fund – Cash from CFC collections received prior to July 
1, 2014 are maintained in a separate account with the use of such funds limited to 
eligible capital projects associated with additional development and/or replacement of 
major components of the Consolidated Rental Car Facility. CFC collections received 
after July 1, 2014 are pledged revenues to the 2012 Bonds.

The Authority maintains the following board-designated cash:

• Facility Development Reserve – Reserve established during fiscal year (FY) 2000 to 
provide for the future development of terminal and other Airport facilities. The actual 
appropriation of these funds to selected facility development projects will be determined 
based on the approval of the Authority. In FY 2025 $15,000,000 of excess revenues 
was transferred to the Facility Development Reserve and in FY 2024, no amount was 
transferred to the Facility Development Reserve.

(j) Capital Assets

Capital assets are defined by the Authority as assets with an initial, individual cost of $1,000 
or more and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Such assets are recorded at 
historical cost, less accumulated depreciation. The costs of normal maintenance and 
repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend assets’ lives are not 
capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets are capitalized as projects are constructed. Net 
interest incurred during the construction phase of capital assets is included as part of the 
capitalized value of the assets constructed. Depreciation is recognized in amounts 
calculated to amortize the cost of the depreciable assets over their estimated useful lives. 

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Buildings and improvements 3 to 40 years

Runways and improvements 3 to 25 years

Machinery and equipment 3 to 20 years
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(k) Compensated Absences

Employees may receive 80 to 160 hours of vacation each year (40 to 80 hours for job share 
employees), depending on length of service with the Authority. Vacation is not earned until 
the year is completed. An employee may accrue up to 320 hours of vacation; as of 
February 1st of each year any hours earned in excess of 320 hours are paid out to the 
employee.

Employees are entitled to 100 hours of sick leave during each year (50 hours for job share 
employees). Employees may accrue sick leave or may receive payment for any unused 
portion of sick leave days exceeding ten (10) days.

Vacation and sick leave are accrued as earned by employees.

Employees are also entitled to bank up to 180 hours of overtime and one (1) floating 
holiday for personal leave. Employees will receive ten (10) hours of pay (five (5) hours for 
job share employees) for each floating holiday utilized.

At June 30, 2025, the Authority recorded $1,596,501 of accrued compensated absences, a 
net increase of $173,147 from the prior year balance of $1,423,354. 

(l) Fair Value Measurements

For assets or liabilities that are required to be reported at fair value, the Authority uses 
valuation techniques which are appropriate under the circumstances and are either a 
market approach, a cost approach or an income approach. The Authority categorizes its fair 
value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by U.S. GAAP. The 
hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value consists of three levels. Level 1 inputs are 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs, 
other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs. 

(m) Investments and Invested Cash

In accordance with California Government Code (Code) Section 53600 et seq., the 
Authority adopts an investment policy annually for the Operating and  PFC portfolios that, 
among other things, authorizes types of allowable investments, maximum maturities, 
maximum concentration of investments by type of investment and issuer, minimum ratings 
for certain types of investments, and how the investments may be held. These criteria on 
investments and invested cash related to the Authority’s bonded debt are governed by the 
related Master Indenture of Trust. The Authority further limits all investments to be more 
restrictive than the Code. Authorized investments and invested cash include U.S. Treasury 
securities, corporate notes, federal agency securities, money market mutual funds, bankers’ 
acceptances, commercial paper, negotiable and non-negotiable certificates of deposit, 
repurchase agreements, guaranteed investment contracts and funds deposited in the State 
Treasurer’s Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF). Additional restrictions in the Authority’s 
investment policy over the requirements of the Code include: (1) smaller maximum portions 
of the portfolios for certain investment types (e.g., U.S. Agency securities, negotiable and 
time certificates of deposit, bankers’ acceptances, commercial paper, money market mutual 
funds, LAIF), (2) smaller maximum portions of the portfolios invested in a single institution/
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issuer (e.g., negotiable and time certificates of deposit, corporate notes, bankers’ 
acceptances, commercial paper) (3) limiting the underlying investments of money market 
mutual funds to U.S. Treasury securities, and (4) excluding investments in reverse 
repurchase agreements and securities lending agreements, collateralized mortgage 
obligations and similar investments, debt securities issued by other local agencies and 
shares of beneficial interest issued by joint powers authorities formed in accordance with 
Section 6509.7 of the Code. The restrictions in the Code and the additional limitations in the 
Authority’s investment policy mitigate the Authority’s interest rate risk, credit risk, 
concentration of credit risk, and custodial credit risk related to its various investments. 

The Authority’s investments are carried at fair value. Fair value is determined based upon 
market closing prices or bid/asked prices for regularly traded securities, where that 
information is available, or other observable inputs, where price is not available. The fair 
value of money market mutual funds and other similar investments is stated at its share 
value. The fair value of the Authority’s investment in the LAIF is based on the Authority’s pro 
rata share provided by LAIF of the fair value of the entire LAIF portfolio. Certain money 
market mutual fund investments with initial maturities at the time of the purchase of less 
than one year are recorded at cost. The calculation of realized gains and losses on 
investments that had been held more than one fiscal year and sold during the current year 
may have been recognized as an increase or decrease in fair value of investments reported 
in the prior year.

(n) Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Authority considers its investment in 
money market mutual funds in the Operating and Passenger Facility Charge cash and 
investment portfolios, and in the LAIF, to be cash equivalents that function as a demand 
deposit account, whereby funds may be withdrawn or deposited at any time without prior 
notice or penalty. Unrestricted investments in other securities with remaining maturities of 
90 days or less at the time of purchase are also considered cash equivalents. Investments 
in money market mutual funds held by the bond trustee are not considered cash 
equivalents for purposes of the statement of cash flows.

(o) Prepaid Expenses

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid expenses. The cost of prepaid expenses is recognized as an expense 
when consumed, rather than when purchased.

(p) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent liabilities at the date of the basic financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.
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(q) Income Taxes

The Authority is a political subdivision of the State of California. Accordingly, the Authority is 
not subject to federal or state income taxes.

(r) Accounting Pronouncements Adopted During the Fiscal Year

The following accounting pronouncements were issued by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB), and were implemented by the Authority during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2025:

• GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences.  The objective of this statement is 
to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by updating the 
recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences.  That objective is 
achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance under a unified model 
and by amending certain previously required disclosures. This statement requires that 
liabilities for compensated absences be recognized for (1) leave that has not been used 
and (2) leave that has been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash 
means. A liability should be recognized for leave that has not been used if (a) the leave 
is attributable to services already rendered, (b) the leave accumulates, and (c) the leave 
is more likely than not to be used for time off or otherwise paid in cash or settled 
through noncash means. GASB Statement No. 101 is effective for the Authority's fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2025. Application of GASB 101 did not have a significant impact 
on the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2025. 

• GASB Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures. The objective of this statement is 
to provide information to users of government financial statements about risks related to 
a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations or constraints. This 
statement defines concentration as a lack of diversity related to an aspect of a 
significant inflow or outflow of resources. A constraint is a limitation imposed on a 
government by an external party or by formal action of the government’s highest level of 
decision-making authority. GASB Statement No. 102 is effective for the Authority’s fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2025. Application of Statement No. 102 did not have any financial 
impact on the Authority.

(s) Accounting Pronouncements Issued, Not Yet Effective
The following GASB Statements have been issued but are not yet effective for the year 
ended June 30, 2025. The Authority is assessing what financial statement impact, if any, 
these Statements will have:

• GASB Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements.  The objective of 
this statement is to improve key components of the financial reporting model to 
enhance its effectiveness in providing information that is essential for decision making 
and assessing a government’s accountability.  This Statement also addresses certain 
application issues. The requirements of this statement are effective for the Authority’s 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2026.
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• GASB Statement No. 104, Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets.  The objective of this 
statement is to establish requirements for certain types of capital assets to be disclosed 
separately for purposes of note disclosures, and to establish requirements for capital 
assets held for sale and note disclosures for those capital assets. The requirements of 
this statement are effective for the Authority’s financial statements for the year ending 
June 30, 2026.

• GASB Statement No. 105, Subsequent Events.  The objective of this statement is to 
improve the financial reporting requirements for subsequent events, thereby enhancing 
consistency in their application and better meeting the information needs of financial 
statement users. The requirements of this statement are effective for the Authority’s 
financial statements for fiscal year ending June 30, 2027.

(t) Reclassification of Prior Year Presentation
Certain reclassifications have been made to the FY 2024 Basic Financial Statements to 
conform with the current year's presentation. Such reclassifications did not impact net 
position and change in net position.
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(3) Cash and Investments

(a) Cash and Investments

(i) Cash and investments at June 30, 2025 and 2024 are classified in the accompanying 
statements of net position as follows:

2025 2024
Cash and investments – unrestricted assets:

Operating fund $ 59,790,629 $ 27,276,938 

    Facility Development Reserve  220,132,453  205,132,453 

Total cash and investments –

unrestricted assets  279,923,082  232,409,391 

Cash and investments – restricted assets:

Cash and investments held by bond trustee:

Debt service reserve fund – 2005 Bonds  —  166,162 

Debt service fund – 2012 Bonds  5,494,700  5,217,887 

Debt service reserve fund – 2012 Bonds  7,032,698  6,714,925 

Construction funds – 2012 Bonds  74  70 

Debt service fund – 2015 Bonds  —  4,707,667 

Cost of issuance funds – 2024 Bonds  —  22,928 

Capitalized interest funds – 2024 Bonds  74,255,291  92,196,261 

Construction funds – 2024 Bonds  302,701,214  638,667,655 

Total cash and investments held by

bond trustee  389,483,977  747,693,555 

Other restricted cash and investments:

Operating Reserve fund  16,101,125  15,284,081 

Bond Surplus fund  1,459,500  2,601,563 

Authority Areas Reserve fund  3,652,282  3,568,353 

Asset Forfeiture fund  26,517  25,702 

Proceeds from sale of Airport property  2,104,502  2,104,502 

Facility Rent Reserve fund  1,651,914  620,952 

Passenger Facility Charge fund  75,905,446  64,950,519 

Customer Facility Charge fund  1,568,839  1,610,153 

Total other restricted cash and

investments  102,470,125  90,765,825 

Total cash and investments –

restricted assets  491,954,102  838,459,380 

Total cash and investments $ 771,877,184 $ 1,070,868,771 
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(ii) Cash and investments as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 consist of the following:

2025 2024
Operating portfolio cash and investments:

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash on hand $ 500 $ 500 
Deposits with financial institutions  17,387,706  8,655,694 
Money market mutual funds  9,260,804  23,500,912 
LAIF  13,917,121  14,296,678 

Total cash and cash equivalents  40,566,131  46,453,784 

Investments:
U.S. Treasury securities  96,005,665  77,610,863 
U.S. Agency securities  90,407,482  74,860,713 
Medium-term corporate notes  77,939,644  57,689,184 

Total investments  264,352,791  210,160,760 

Total cash and cash equivalents and
investments in operating portfolio  304,918,922  256,614,544 

Passenger Facility Charge Fund:
Cash and cash equivalents:

Deposits with financial institutions  6,081,241  8,223,423 
Money market mutual funds  1,367,119  59,225 

Total cash and cash equivalents  7,448,360  8,282,648 

Investments:
U.S. Treasury securities  24,683,145  25,871,650 
U.S. Agency securities  24,113,474  17,621,465 
Medium-term corporate notes  19,660,467  13,174,756 

Total investments  68,457,086  56,667,871 

Total cash and cash equivalents and
investments in passenger facility charge fund  75,905,446  64,950,519 

Customer Facility Charge Fund:
Deposits with financial institutions  1,568,839  1,610,153 

Investments held by bond trustee:
Money market mutual funds  134,267,461  66,735,189 
U.S. Treasury securities  255,216,516  680,958,366 

 389,483,977  747,693,555 
Total cash and cash equivalents and

investments $ 771,877,184 $ 1,070,868,771 

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

 

48



2025 2024
Summary of cash and investments:

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash on hand $ 500 $ 500 
Deposits with financial institutions  25,037,786  18,489,270 
Money market mutual funds  10,627,923  23,560,137 
LAIF  13,917,121  14,296,678 

Total cash and cash equivalents  49,583,330  56,346,585 

Investments:
U.S. Treasury securities  120,688,810  103,482,513 
U.S. Agency securities  114,520,956  92,482,178 
Medium-term corporate notes  97,600,111  70,863,940 
Money market mutual funds held by bond trustee  134,267,461  66,735,189 
U.S. Treasury securities held by bond trustee  255,216,516  680,958,366 

Total investments  722,293,854  1,014,522,186 

Total cash and cash equivalents and
investments $ 771,877,184 $ 1,070,868,771 

Cash balances, except for those held by the Trustee, held in the Authority’s payroll account 
or held as petty cash are pooled for deposit and investment purposes. Cash and 
investments funds are classified under the general headings of “restricted” or “unrestricted.” 
The Authority has designated separate restricted funds to carry on specific activities in 
accordance with special regulations, bond covenants, or enabling legislation. Restricted 
funds are nondiscretionary in terms of use and provide for payment of debt service on 
Authority bonds, reserves for outstanding bonds, construction of long-term assets, and 
operations and maintenance. The Authority, after necessary fund transfers have been made 
to comply with bond covenants, has discretion as to the magnitude and use of the 
remaining unrestricted funds.

(b) Investments Authorized by the Code and the Authority’s Investment Policy

The table on the following page identifies the investment types that are authorized for the 
Authority by the Code (or the Authority’s investment policy, where more restrictive). The 
table also identifies certain provisions of the Code (or the Authority’s investment policy, 
where more restrictive) that address interest rate risk and concentration of credit risk. This 
table does not address investments of debt proceeds held by bond trustee that are 
governed by the provisions of the Master Indenture of Trust, as amended and restated, 
rather than the Code or the Authority’s investment policy.
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Maximum Maximum
Maximum percentage of investment in

Authorized investment type maturity portfolioa one issuer

U.S. Treasury securities 5 years None None

U.S. Agency securities 5 years 70% None

Time deposits 5 years 15% 5% 

LAIF N/A $20 million None

Bankers’ acceptances 180 days 15% 5% 

Commercial paper 270 days 15% 5% 

Repurchase agreements 1 year 10% None

Money market mutual funds, invested in

U.S. Treasury securities N/A 20% None

Medium-term corporate notes 5 years 30% 5% 

Negotiable certificates of deposit 5 years 15% 5% 

a. Percentages apply separately to the Operating portfolio and the Passenger Facility Charge Fund portfolio.

    Excludes amounts held by bond trustee.

(c) Investments Authorized Under the Master Indenture of Trust

Investment of debt proceeds held by the bond trustee are governed by provisions of the 
Master Indenture of Trust, rather than the general provisions of the Code or the Authority’s 
investment policy. The table below identifies the investment types that are authorized for 
investments held by the bond trustee. The table also identifies certain provisions of the 
Master Indenture of Trust that address interest rate risk, and concentration of credit risk.

Maximum Maximum
Maximum percentage investment in

Authorized investment type maturity allowed one issuer

U.S. Treasury securities 5 years None None
U.S. Agency securities 5 years None None
Money market mutual funds N/A None None
Negotiable certificates of deposit 5 years None None
Time and savings deposits 5 years None None
Guaranteed investment contracts 30 years None None
Commercial paper 270 days None None
State or local government securities 5 years None None
Bankers’ acceptances 360 days None None
Repurchase agreements 30 days None None
Any State of California-administered

investment pool N/A None None
Advance refunded municipal securities 5 years None None
Investments approved in writing by the

bond insurer 30 years None None
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(d) Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect the fair 
value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the 
sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. One of the ways that the 
Authority manages its exposure to interest rate risk is by purchasing a combination of 
shorter term and longer term investments and by timing cash flows from maturities so that a 
portion of the portfolio is maturing or coming close to maturing evenly over time, as 
necessary to provide the cash flow and liquidity needed for operations. The Authority 
monitors the interest rate risk in its portfolios by measuring the weighted average maturity 
of the portfolios and limiting them to an average level recommended by its professional 
investment manager, currently approximately 1.1 years. The Authority also employs a “buy 
and hold” investment strategy whereby investments are held to maturity and redeemed at 
par. This strategy limits the Authority’s exposure to declines in fair value to unforeseen 
emergencies when the need for cash beyond that which is planned and anticipated may 
arise.
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The weighted average maturity of each authorized investment type by pool at June 30, 
2025 and 2024 are as follows:

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

Authorized investment type Amount

Weighted 
average 
maturity 
(in years) Amount

Weighted 
average 
maturity 
(in years)

Operating portfolio cash equivalents and
   investments:

Operating portfolio investments:
U.S. Treasury securities $ 96,005,664 1.97 $ 77,610,863 1.43
U.S. Agency securities  90,407,482 1.75  74,860,713 1.11
Medium-term corporate notes  77,939,644 2.00  57,689,184 0.98

Total operating portfolio
investments  264,352,790 1.90  210,160,760 1.19

Operating portfolio cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds  9,260,804 0.27  23,432,787 0.14
LAIF  13,917,121 0.69  14,296,678 0.60

Total operating portfolio
cash equivalents  23,177,925 0.52  37,729,465 0.31

Total operating portfolio
cash equivalents and
investments  287,530,715 1.79  247,890,225 1.06

Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Fund
   cash equivalents and investments:

PFC Fund investments:
U.S. Treasury securities  24,683,146 2.10  25,871,650 0.80
U.S. Agency securities  24,113,474 1.97  17,621,465 1.21
Medium-term corporate notes  19,660,467 2.24  13,174,756 0.98

Total PFC Fund 
investments  68,457,087 2.09  56,667,871 0.97

PFC Fund cash equivalents – money
market mutual funds  1,367,119 0.27  47,100 0.14

Total PFC Fund cash
equivalents and 
investments  69,824,206 2.05  56,714,971 0.97

Investments held by bond trustee:
Money market mutual funds  134,267,461 0.27  66,735,189 0.14
U.S. Treasury securities  255,216,516 0.42  680,958,366 0.70

Total investments held
by bond trustee  389,483,977 0.37  747,693,555 0.65

Total cash equivalents
and investments $ 746,838,898 1.07 $ 1,052,298,751 0.76
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(e) Investments with Fair Values Highly Sensitive to Interest Rate Fluctuations

None of the Authority’s investments (including investments held by the bond trustee) are 
highly sensitive to interest rate fluctuations. 

(f) Credit Risk

Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to 
the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally 
recognized statistical rating organization. Presented on the next page is the minimum rating 
required by (where applicable) the Code, the Authority’s investment policy or the Master 
Indenture of Trust, as amended and restated, and the actual rating as of June 30, 2025 and 
2024 for each investment type. 
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Minimum Not required Rating as of year-end
legal to be rated

Authorized investment type Amount rating or not rated AAA AA A

As of June 30, 2025:

Operating portfolio cash equivalents
and investments:

Operating portfolio investments:
U.S. Treasury securities $ 96,005,664 N/A $ 96,005,664 $ — $ — $ — 
U.S. Agency securities:

Fed. Farm Credit Bank  14,177,812 N/A  —  —  14,177,812  — 
Fed. Home Loan Bank  36,423,824 N/A  —  —  36,423,824  — 
Fed. Home Loan Mort. Corp.  8,128,613 N/A  —  —  8,128,613  — 
Fed. National Mort. Assn.  31,677,233 N/A  —  —  31,677,233  — 

Total U.S. Agency
securities  90,407,482  —  —  90,407,482  — 

Medium-term corporate notes  77,939,644 A  —  —  13,203,912  64,735,732 

Total operating portfolio
investments  264,352,790  96,005,664  —  103,611,394  64,735,732 

Operating portfolio cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds  9,260,804 AAA  —  9,260,804  —  — 
LAIF  13,917,121 N/A  13,917,121  —  —  — 

Total operating portfolio
cash equivalents  23,177,925  13,917,121  9,260,804  —  — 

Total operating portfolio
cash equivalents and
investments  287,530,715  109,922,785  9,260,804  103,611,394  64,735,732 

Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Fund
cash equivalents and investments:

PFC Fund investments:
U.S. Treasury securities  24,683,146 N/A  24,683,146  —  —  — 
U.S. Agency securities:

Fed. Farm Credit Bank  6,543,132 N/A  —  —  6,543,132  — 
Fed. Home Loan Bank  9,204,826 N/A  —  —  9,204,826  — 
Fed. Home Loan Mort. Corp.  1,843,909 N/A  —  —  1,843,909  — 
Fed. National Mort. Assn.  6,521,607 N/A  —  —  6,521,607  — 

Total U.S. Agency
securities  24,113,474  —  —  24,113,474  — 

Medium-term corporate notes  19,660,467 A  —  —  2,993,797  16,666,670 

Total PFC Fund
investments  68,457,087  24,683,146  —  27,107,271  16,666,670 

PFC Fund cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds  1,367,119 AAA  —  1,367,119  —  — 

Total PFC Fund cash
equivalents and
investments  69,824,206  24,683,146  1,367,119  27,107,271  16,666,670 

Investments held by bond trustee:
Money market mutual funds  134,267,461 AAA  —  134,267,461  —  — 
U.S. Treasury securities  255,216,516 N/A  255,216,516  —  —  — 

Total investments
bond trustee  389,483,977  255,216,516  134,267,461  —  — 

Total cash equivalents

and investments $ 746,838,898 $ 389,822,447 $ 144,895,384 $ 130,718,665 $ 81,402,402 
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Minimum Not required Rating as of year-end
legal to be rated

Authorized investment type Amount rating or not rated AAA AA A

As of June 30, 2024:

Operating portfolio cash equivalents
and investments:

Operating portfolio investments:
U.S. Treasury securities $ 77,610,863 N/A $ 77,610,863 $ — $ — $ — 
U.S. Agency securities:

Fed. Farm Credit Bank  16,658,919 N/A  —  —  16,658,919  — 
Fed. Home Loan Bank  26,113,496 N/A  —  —  26,113,496  — 
Fed. Home Loan Mort. Corp.  6,839,417 N/A  —  —  6,839,417  — 
Fed. National Mort. Assn.  25,248,881 N/A  —  —  25,248,881  — 

Total U.S. Agency
securities  74,860,713  —  —  74,860,713  — 

Medium-term corporate notes  57,689,184 A  —  —  9,960,188  47,728,996 

Total operating portfolio
investments  210,160,760  77,610,863  —  84,820,901  47,728,996 

Operating portfolio cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds  23,432,787 AAA  —  23,432,787  —  — 
LAIF  14,296,678 N/A  14,296,678  —  —  — 

Total operating portfolio
cash equivalents  37,729,465  14,296,678  23,432,787  —  — 

Total operating portfolio
cash equivalents and
investments  247,890,225  91,907,541  23,432,787  84,820,901  47,728,996 

Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Fund
cash equivalents and investments:

PFC Fund investments:
U.S. Treasury securities  25,871,650 N/A  25,871,650  —  —  — 
U.S. Agency securities:

Fed. Farm Credit Bank  4,649,270 N/A  —  —  4,649,270  — 
Fed. Home Loan Bank  5,392,765 N/A  —  —  5,392,765  — 
Fed. Home Loan Mort. Corp.  1,709,854 N/A  —  —  1,709,854  — 
Fed. National Mort. Assn.  5,869,576 N/A  —  —  5,869,576  — 

Total U.S. Agency
securities  17,621,465  —  —  17,621,465  — 

Medium-term corporate notes  13,174,756 A  —  —  2,467,594  10,707,162 

Total PFC Fund
investments  56,667,871  25,871,650  —  20,089,059  10,707,162 

PFC Fund cash equivalents:
Money market mutual funds  47,100 AAA  —  47,100  —  — 

Total PFC Fund cash
equivalents and
investments  56,714,971  25,871,650  47,100  20,089,059  10,707,162 

Investments held by bond trustee:
Money market mutual funds  66,735,189 AAA  —  66,735,189  —  — 
U.S. Treasury securities  680,958,366  680,958,366  —  —  — 

Total investments
bond trustee  747,693,555  680,958,366  66,735,189  —  — 

Total cash equivalents

and investments $ 1,052,298,751 $ 798,737,557 $ 90,215,076 $ 104,909,960 $ 58,436,158 
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(g) Fair Value Measurements

The Authority categorizes its fair value measurements of its investments within the fair 
value hierarchy established by U.S. GAAP. The hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair 
value consists of three levels: 

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs (the Authority has no investments measured 
using Level 3 inputs). 

• Investments in an external government investment pool, such as LAIF, are not subject 
to reporting within the level hierarchy.

The Authority has the following recurring fair value measurements as of June 30, 2025 and 
2024:

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

Not Not

Authorized investment type Total Level 1 Level 2 Leveled Total Level 1 Level 2 Leveled

Operating portfolio cash equivalents

and investments:

Operating portfolio investments:

U.S. Treasury securities $ 96,005,664 $ 96,005,664 $ — $ — $ 77,610,863 $ 77,610,863 $ — $ — 

U.S. Agency securities:

Fed. Farm Credit Bank  14,177,812  —  14,177,812  —  16,658,919  —  16,658,919  — 

Fed. Home Loan Bank  36,423,824  —  36,423,824  —  26,113,496  —  26,113,496  — 

Fed. Home Loan Mort. Corp.  8,128,613  —  8,128,613  —  6,839,417  —  6,839,417  — 

Fed. National Mort. Assn.  31,677,233  —  31,677,233  —  25,248,881  —  25,248,881  — 

Total U.S. Agency 

securities  90,407,482  —  90,407,482  —  74,860,713  —  74,860,713  — 

Medium-term corporate notes  77,939,644  —  77,939,644  —  57,689,184  —  57,689,184  — 

Total Operating portfolio

investments  264,352,790  96,005,664  168,347,126  —  210,160,760  77,610,863  132,549,897  — 

Operating portfolio cash equivalents:

Money market mutual funds1  9,260,804  —  —  9,260,804  23,432,787  —  —  23,432,787 

LAIF  13,917,121  —  —  13,917,121  14,296,678  —  —  14,296,678 

Total Operating portfolio

cash equivalents  23,177,925  —  —  23,177,925  37,729,465  —  —  37,729,465 

Total Operating portfolio

cash equivalents and

investments  287,530,715  96,005,664  168,347,126  23,177,925  247,890,225  77,610,863  132,549,897  37,729,465 

Note 1 - Valued at net asset value (NAV)

(continued)
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June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024

Not Not

Authorized investment type Total Level 1 Level 2 Leveled Total Level 1 Level 2 Leveled

Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Fund

cash equivalents and investments:

PFC Fund investments:

U.S. Treasury securities $ 24,683,146 $ 24,683,146 $ — $ — $ 25,871,650 $ 25,871,650 $ — $ — 

U.S. Agency securities:

Fed. Farm Credit Bank  6,543,132  —  6,543,132  —  4,649,270  —  4,649,270  — 

Fed. Home Loan Bank  9,204,826  —  9,204,826  —  5,392,765  —  5,392,765  — 

Fed. Home Loan Mort. Corp.  1,843,909  —  1,843,909  —  1,709,854  —  1,709,854  — 

Fed. National Mort. Assn.  6,521,607  —  6,521,607  —  5,869,576  —  5,869,576  — 

Total U.S. Agency 

securities  24,113,474  —  24,113,474  —  17,621,465  —  17,621,465  — 

Medium-term corporate notes  19,660,467  —  19,660,467  —  13,174,756  —  13,174,756  — 

Total PFC Fund

investments  68,457,087  24,683,146  43,773,941  —  56,667,871  25,871,650  30,796,221  — 

PFC Fund cash equivalents – 

money market mutual funds1  1,367,119  —  —  1,367,119  47,100  —  —  47,100 

Total PFC Fund cash

equivalents and

investments  69,824,206  24,683,146  43,773,941  1,367,119  56,714,971  25,871,650  30,796,221  47,100 

Investments held by bond trustee:

Money market mutual funds1  134,267,461  —  —  134,267,461  66,735,189  —  —  66,735,189 

U.S. Treasury securities  255,216,516  255,216,516  —  —  680,958,366  680,958,366  —  — 

Total investments

bond trustee  389,483,977  255,216,516  —  134,267,461  747,693,555  680,958,366  —  66,735,189 

Total cash equivalents

and investments $ 746,838,898 $ 375,905,326 $ 212,121,067 $ 158,812,505 $ 1,052,298,751 $ 784,440,879 $ 163,346,118 $ 104,511,754 

Note 1 - Valued at net asset value (NAV)
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(h) Concentration of Credit Risk

The Authority’s investment policy limits the amount that can be invested in any one issuer in 
corporate notes, bankers’ acceptances, commercial paper, negotiable certificates of deposit 
and time certificates of deposit to 5% of the applicable portfolio. The investment policy 
contains no other limitations on the amount that can be invested in any one issuer beyond 
that stipulated by the Code. Investments in any one issuer (other than U.S. Treasury 
securities, money market mutual funds, and external investment pools) that represent 5% 
or more of total Authority investments, by pool, are as follows:

Authorized Reported amount at June 30,

investment 2025 2024

Issuer type Amount Fund % Amount Fund %

Operating portfolio investments:

Federal Home Loan Bank U.S. Agency securities $ 36,423,824 13.31% $ 26,113,496 11.18%

Federal National Mortgage Association U.S. Agency securities  31,677,233 11.58  25,248,881 10.81

Federal Farm Credit Bank U.S. Agency securities  14,177,812 5.18  16,658,919 7.13

Passenger Facility Charge Fund investments:

Federal National Mortgage Association U.S. Agency securities  6,521,607 9.34  5,869,576 10.35

Federal Home Loan Bank U.S. Agency securities  9,204,826 13.18  5,392,765 9.51

Federal Farm Credit Bank U.S. Agency securities  6,543,132 9.37  4,649,270 8.20

(i) Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository 
financial institution, a government will not be able to recover its deposit or will not be able to 
recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The custodial 
credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., 
broker-dealer) to a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of its 
investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of another party. The Code and 
the Authority’s investment policy do not contain legal or policy requirements that would limit 
the exposure to custodial credit risk for deposits or investments, other than the following 
provisions for deposits: the Code requires that a financial institution secure deposits made 
by state or local government units by pledging securities in an undivided collateral pool held 
by a depository regulated under state law (unless so waived by the government unit). The 
market value of the pledged securities in the collateral pool must equal at least 110% of the 
total amount deposited by the public agencies. California law also allows financial 
institutions to secure Authority deposits by pledging first trust deed mortgage notes having 
a value of 150% of the secured public deposits.
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At June 30, 2025 and 2024, a portion of the Authority’s deposits with financial institutions 
were uninsured and the collateral was held in accordance with the Code by the pledging 
financial institution in the Authority’s name, as follows:

2025 2024

Cash deposits:

Insured $ 250,000 $ 250,000 

Uninsured, collateral held in the Authority's name  26,047,293  20,662,165 

Total cash deposits  26,297,293  20,912,165 

Plus deposits in transit  183,446  371,621 

Less outstanding checks  (1,442,953)  (2,794,516) 

Carrying amount of cash deposits $ 25,037,786 $ 18,489,270 

Investments and money market mutual funds in the Operating portfolio and Passenger 
Facility Charge Fund portfolio were held in the Authority’s name by the trust department of 
the bank broker-dealer (counter-party) that was used by the Authority to buy the securities 
and mutual funds.

(j) Investment in the State Treasurer’s Local Agency Investment Fund

The Authority is a voluntary participant in the LAIF that is regulated by the Code under the 
oversight of the Treasurer of the State of California. The fair value of the Authority’s 
investment in this pool is reported in the accompanying basic financial statements at 
amounts based upon the Authority’s pro rata share of the fair value provided by LAIF for the 
entire LAIF portfolio (in relation to the amortized cost of that portfolio). The balance 
available for withdrawal is based on the accounting records maintained by LAIF, which are 
recorded on an amortized cost basis, which is different from the fair value of the Authority's 
position in the LAIF pool. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the total amount invested by all 
California local governments and special districts in LAIF was $24.2 billion and 
$22.0 billion, respectively. LAIF is part of the State of California’s Pooled Money Investment 
Account (PMIA), which as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 had a balance of $179.2 billion and 
$178.3 billion, respectively. The PMIA is not SEC-registered, but is required to invest 
according to the Code. 
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(4) Capital Assets

Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2025 were as follows:

July 1, 
2024 Additions Deletions

June 30, 
2025

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 160,065,894 $ — $ — $ 160,065,894 

Other non-depreciable assets  1,128,515  —  —  1,128,515 

Construction in progress  147,756,131  431,747,116  (3,900,159)  575,603,088 

Total capital assets not

being depreciated  308,950,540  431,747,116  (3,900,159)  736,797,497 

Capital assets being depreciated/
amortized:

Building and improvements  256,902,208  656,646  —  257,558,854 

Runways and improvements  160,120,870  90,573  —  160,211,443 

Machinery and equipment  39,501,833  3,152,940  (1,167,977)  41,486,796 

Intangible right to use asset  660,984  —  —  660,984 

Total capital assets

being depreciated/

amortized  457,185,895  3,900,159  (1,167,977)  459,918,077 

Less accumulated depreciation/

amortization for:

Building and improvements  (173,979,449)  (5,148,460)  —  (179,127,909) 

Runways and improvements  (128,133,594)  (7,162,348)  —  (135,295,942) 

Machinery and equipment  (36,631,829)  (1,437,672)  1,167,977  (36,901,524) 

Intangible right to use asset  (366,130)  (141,376)  —  (507,506) 

Total accumulated

depreciation/

amortization  (339,111,002)  (13,889,856)  1,167,977  (351,832,881) 

Total capital assets

being depreciated/

amortized, net  118,074,893  (9,989,697)  —  108,085,196 

Total capital assets, net $ 427,025,433 $ 421,757,419 $ (3,900,159) $ 844,882,693 
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Changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2024 were as follows:

July 1, 
2023 Additions Deletions

June 30, 
2024

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 160,065,894 $ — $ — $ 160,065,894 
Other non-depreciable assets  1,128,515  —  —  1,128,515 
Construction in progress  32,649,419  117,419,041  (2,312,329)  147,756,131 

Total capital assets not
being depreciated  193,843,828  117,419,041  (2,312,329)  308,950,540 

Capital assets being depreciated/
amortized:

Building and improvements  255,974,998  927,210  —  256,902,208 
Runways and improvements  159,622,308  498,562  —  160,120,870 
Machinery and equipment  38,711,805  886,557  (96,529)  39,501,833 
Intangible right to use asset  660,984  —  —  660,984 

Total capital assets
being depreciated/
amortized  454,970,095  2,312,329  (96,529)  457,185,895 

Less accumulated depreciation/
amortization for:

Building and improvements  (168,109,772)  (5,869,677)  —  (173,979,449) 
Runways and improvements  (120,396,818)  (7,736,776)  —  (128,133,594) 
Machinery and equipment  (35,564,477)  (1,163,881)  96,529  (36,631,829) 
Intangible right to use asset  (224,754)  (141,376)  —  (366,130) 

Total accumulated
depreciation/
amortization  (324,295,821)  (14,911,710)  96,529  (339,111,002) 

Total capital assets
being depreciated/
amortized, net  130,674,274  (12,599,381)  —  118,074,893 

Total capital assets, net $ 324,518,102 $ 104,819,660 $ (2,312,329) $ 427,025,433 
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(5) Long–Term Debt

The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 
2024:

Beginning
balance Additions Deductions

Ending
balance

Due within
one year

Year ended June 30, 2025:
Revenue bonds payable:

2012 Revenue Bonds:
2012 Series A $ 6,715,000 $ — $ — $ 6,715,000 $ — 
2012 Taxable Series B  60,215,000  —  (2,055,000)  58,160,000  2,170,000 
Plus deferred amounts for

original issue premium  112,202  —  (6,234)  105,968  — 

2015 Revenue Bonds:
2015 Series B  4,350,000  —  (4,350,000)  —  — 

2024 Revenue Bonds:
2024 Series A  34,680,000  —  —  34,680,000  — 
2024 Series B  642,420,000  —  —  642,420,000  — 
2024 Taxable Series C  47,680,000  —  —  47,680,000  — 
Plus deferred amounts for

original issue premium  28,220,807  —  (940,694)  27,280,113  — 

Total long–term
debt payable $ 824,393,009 $ — $ (7,351,928) $ 817,041,081 $ 2,170,000 
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Beginning
balance Additions Deductions

Ending
balance

Due within
one year

Year ended June 30, 2024:
Revenue bonds payable:

2012 Revenue Bonds:
2012 Series A $ 6,715,000 $ — $ — $ 6,715,000 $ — 
2012 Taxable Series B  62,165,000  —  (1,950,000)  60,215,000  2,055,000 
Plus deferred amounts for

original issue premium  118,435  —  (6,233)  112,202  — 

2015 Revenue Bonds:
2015 Series B  8,490,000  —  (4,140,000)  4,350,000  4,350,000 
Plus deferred amounts for

original issue premium  471,003  —  (471,003)  —  — 

2024 Revenue Bonds:

2024 Series A  —  34,680,000  —  34,680,000  — 

2024 Series B  —  642,420,000  —  642,420,000  — 

2024 Taxable Series C  —  47,680,000  —  47,680,000  — 

Plus deferred amounts for

original issue premium  —  28,301,811  (81,004)  28,220,807  — 

Total long–term
debt payable $ 77,959,438 $ 753,081,811 $ (6,648,240) $ 824,393,009 $ 6,405,000 

(a) 2012 Revenue Bonds

On May 10, 2012, the Authority issued $82,165,000 of 2012 Airport Revenue Bonds (2012 
Bonds) with an effective interest rate of 5.624% and at an original issue premium totaling 
$187,886. The 2012 Bonds were issued in two series. The 2012 Bonds are special 
obligations of the Authority payable solely from, and secured solely by a pledge of, the net 
revenues and amounts in certain funds established under the Master Indenture of Trust, as 
amended and restated, and the Debt Service Reserve Fund. 

The $6,715,000 Airport Revenue Bonds 2012 Series A (AMT) (2012 Series A Bonds), at an 
effective interest rate of 4.949%, and the $75,450,000 Airport Revenue Bonds 2012 
Taxable Series B (2012 Taxable Series B Bonds), at an effective interest rate of 5.722%, 
were issued (i) to finance those costs of the RITC project consisting of the CRCF and the 
portion of the costs of the Replacement Parking Structure attributable to the parking spaces 
displaced by the CRCF (2012 Bond Project); (ii) to fund the 2012 Debt Service Reserve 
Fund; (iii) to provide capitalized interest with respect to the 2012 Bonds through July 1, 
2014; and to pay the costs of issuance of the 2012 Bonds. 

The 2012 Series A Bonds are due in annual installments ranging from $1,155,000 to 
$5,560,000 from July 1, 2041 to July 1, 2042 at an interest rate of 5.000% payable 
semiannually on July 1 and January 1 - beginning July 1, 2012, the 2012 Series A Bonds 
are subject to optional redemption by the Authority, without premium, in whole or in part on 
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any date on and after July 1, 2022 at a redemption price equal to the principal and accrued 
interest to the redemption date on the portion to be redeemed.

The 2012 Taxable Series B Bonds are due in annual installments ranging from $1,500,000 
to $4,970,000 from July 1, 2015 to July 1, 2041 with interest rates ranging from 2.036% to 
5.812% payable semiannually on July 1 and January 1 - beginning July 1, 2012, the 2012 
Taxable Series B Bonds are subject to optional redemption by the Authority, in whole or in 
part, on any date, at a Redemption Price equal to the Make-Whole Redemption Price, as 
defined in the bond official statement, plus unpaid accrued interest. 

In accordance with the bond resolution, certain cash accounts (funds) are required to be 
segregated and minimum balances maintained as summarized in Note 2. There are also a 
number of other limitations and restrictions contained in the Master Indenture of Trust, as 
amended and restated. Authority management believes that the Authority has complied with 
such requirements.

(b) 2015 Revenue Bonds

On April 30, 2015, the Authority issued $32,260,000 of 2015 Airport Revenue Bonds 
(2015 Bonds) with an effective interest rate of 2.553% and at an original issue premium of 
$4,383,971. The 2015 Bonds, issued as parity bonds with the 2012 Bonds, were issued in 
two series to defease the 2005 Airport Revenue Bonds (2005 Bonds). The 2015 Bonds 
were special obligations of the Authority payable solely from, and secured solely by a 
pledge of, the net revenues and amounts in certain funds established under the Master 
Indenture of Trust, as amended and restated, and the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
(provided through a surety). 

The 2015 Revenue Bonds reached final maturity on July 1, 2024. The $1,335,000 Airport 
Revenue Bonds, 2015 Series A (non-AMT) (“2015 Series A Bonds”) were repaid in two 
annual installments on July 1, 2016, and July 1, 2017, at interest rates of 3.000% and 
4.000%, respectively. The $30,925,000 Airport Revenue Bonds, 2015 (AMT) Series B 
(“2015 Series B Bonds”) were repaid in annual installments ranging from $2,070,000 to 
$4,350,000 from July 1, 2016, through July 1, 2024, with interest rates between 3.000% 
and 5.000%, paid semiannually from January 1, 2016, through July 1, 2024.

(c) 2024 Revenue Bonds

On May 30, 2024, the Authority issued $724,780,000 of 2024 Airport Senior Revenue 
Bonds (2024 Bonds) with an effective interest rate of 4.540% and at an original issue net 
premium of $28,301,811. The 2024 Bonds were issued in three series to (i) finance a 
portion of the cost of the Replacement Passenger Terminal (RPT) Project; (ii) pay interest 
to accrue on the 2024 Bonds to and including April 1, 2027; (iii) purchase a debt service 
reserve surety policy to be credited to the Debt Service Reserve Fund; (iv) purchase a 
municipal bond insurance policy to guarantee payment of the principal of and interest on 
certain 2024 Bonds; and (v) pay costs of issuance of the 2024 Bonds. The 2024 Bonds are 
special obligations of the Authority payable solely from, and secured solely by a pledge of, 
the net revenues and amounts in certain funds established under the Amended and 
Restated Master Indenture of Trust and the Debt Service Reserve Fund (provided through 
a surety). 
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The $34,680,000 Airport Senior Revenue Bonds 2024 Series A (non-AMT) (2024 Series A 
Bonds) is due in one annual installment of $34,680,000 on July 1, 2054 at an interest rate 
of 4.000% payable semiannually on July 1 and January 1 beginning January 1, 2025.  The 
2024 Series A Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the 
Authority and from any source of funds, in whole or in part on any date on and after July 1, 
2034 at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of the 2024 Series A Bonds to be 
redeemed, plus unpaid accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption, without 
premium. 

The $642,420,000 Airport Senior Revenue Bonds 2024 (AMT) Series B (2024 AMT 
Series B Bonds) are due in annual installments ranging from $10,120,000 to $44,435,000 
from July 1, 2031 to July 1, 2054 with interest rates ranging from 4.000% to 5.250% 
payable semiannually on July 1 and January 1 beginning January 1, 2025. The 2024 Series 
B Bonds maturing on and after July 1, 2035, are subject to redemption prior to maturity at 
the option of the Authority and from any source of funds, in whole or in part on any date on 
and after July 1, 2034 at a Redemption Price equal to the principal amount of the 2024 
Series B Bonds to be redeemed, plus unpaid accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for 
redemption, without premium. 

The $47,680,000 Airport Senior Revenue Bonds 2024 (Taxable) Series C (2024 Taxable 
Series C Bonds) are due in annual installments ranging from $5,440,000 to $14,795,000 
from July 1, 2028 to July 1, 2031 with interest rates ranging from 5.120% to 5.200% 
payable semiannually on July 1 and January 1 beginning January 1, 2025. The 2024 
Taxable C Bonds are not subject to optional redemption prior to maturity.

The gross proceeds of the 2024 Bonds of $753,081,811, less $1,644,763 in underwriter's 
discount, totaling $751,437,048, were deposited in the following manner: (i) $655,848,684 
in the 2024 Bonds construction accounts, (ii) $92,196,261 in the 2024 Bonds capitalized 
interest accounts,  (iii) $2,772,019 in bond insurance policy and debt service reserve surety 
premiums, and (iv) the balance of $620,084 in the 2024 Bonds cost of issuance accounts.  

A bond insurance policy was obtained for certain maturities of the 2024 Bonds totaling 
$257,860,000 in principal to protect bondholders against a default with respect to 
scheduled bond principal and interest payments. Additionally, a debt service reserve surety 
was obtained for the $48,607,907 debt service reserve requirement on the 2024 Bonds. 
Additionally, the premiums on the bond insurance and debt service reserve surety have 
been capitalized and are being amortized over the life of the 2024 Bonds. The total 
unamortized bond insurance and debt service reserve surety premiums at June 30, 2025 
and 2024 is $2,671,948 and $2,764,085, respectively. 

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Notes to Basic Financial Statements

June 30, 2025 and 2024

 

65



(d) Bonds Payable

Balances of bonds payable as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

2025 2024

2024 Series A (Non-AMT) Airport 
Senior Revenue Bonds of 
$34,680,000 $ 34,680,000 $ 34,680,000 
2024 Series B (AMT) Airport Senior 
Revenue Bonds of $642,420,000  642,420,000  642,420,000 
2024 Series C (Taxable) Airport 
Senior Revenue Bonds of 
$47,680,000  47,680,000  47,680,000 
2015 Series B (AMT) Airport 
Revenue Bonds of $30,925,000  —  4,350,000 
2012 Series A (AMT) Airport 
Revenue Bonds of $6,715,000  6,715,000  6,715,000 
2012 Series B (Taxable) Airport 
Revenue Bonds of $75,450,000  58,160,000  60,215,000 

$ 789,655,000 $ 796,060,000 

(e) Annual Debt Service Requirements to Maturity

Revenue bonds debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:

Principal Interest Total

Payable in year ending
June 30:

2026 $ 2,170,000 $ 38,825,493 $ 40,995,493 
2027  2,290,000  38,701,460  40,991,460 
2028  2,420,000  38,570,475  40,990,475 
2029  15,930,000  38,089,721  54,019,721 
2030  16,765,000  37,237,609  54,002,609 
2031 – 2035  97,800,000  171,867,079  269,667,079 
2036 – 2040  125,625,000  143,455,633  269,080,633 
2041 – 2045  147,480,000  109,436,952  256,916,952 
2046 – 2050  166,960,000  71,962,206  238,922,206 
2051 – 2055  212,215,000  25,726,894  237,941,894 

$ 789,655,000 $ 713,873,522 $ 1,503,528,522 
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(f) Pledged Revenues

The 2012 Bonds, 2015 Bonds, and 2024 Bonds are special obligations of the Authority 
payable solely from, and secured solely by a pledge of, the Net Revenues (operating 
revenue plus investment income on operating funds less operating expenses before 
depreciation) and amounts in certain funds established under the Master Indenture of Trust 
and the Debt Service Reserve Fund. Net Revenues are adjusted to reflect any 
reclassifications of certain operating revenues and expenses, as defined in the Master 
Indenture of Trust, due to the implementation of new accounting pronouncements. The 
Authority covenants that the ratio of Net Pledged Revenues plus transfers to the Surplus 
Fund to net accrued debt service on parity obligations will be 1.25 or greater (coverage rate 
covenant) and that Net Revenues plus transfers to the Surplus Fund will equal or exceed 
the sum of net accrued debt service on parity obligations and required deposit to Debt 
Service Reserve, Operating Reserve and other accounts (general rate covenant). 

The computation of the coverage rate covenant and general rate covenant as of June 30, 
2025 and 2024 are as follows: 

2025 2024

Pledged Revenues $ 28,968,816 $ 24,134,764 
Transfers to Surplus Fund  1,458,284  2,599,983 

Net Pledged Revenues $ 30,427,100 $ 26,734,747 

Accrued debt service on 2012 Bonds $ 5,833,134 $ 5,832,433 
Less: Customer Facility Charges collected

and deposited to the debt service fund  (5,810,980)  (5,330,885) 
Accrued debt service on 2015 Bonds  —  4,567,500 

Net accrued debt service on parity    obligations $ 22,154 $ 5,069,048 

Ratio of Net Pledged Revenues to net
accrued debt service on parity obligations  1,373.44  5.27 

Pledged Revenues plus transfers to Surplus Fund $ 30,427,100 $ 26,734,747 
Less:  transfers to Operating Reserve  (817,044)  (1,430,106) 
Less:  net accrued debt service on parity obligations  (22,154)  (5,069,048) 

Excess of pledged revenues over net accrued debt
   service on parity obligations and transfers to
   Operating Reserve $ 29,587,902 $ 20,235,593 

The estimated aggregate total amount of pledged net revenues and amounts in the funds 
established under the Master Indenture of Trust related to the 2012 and 2024 Bonds is 
equal to the remaining debt service on the 2012 and 2024 Bonds at June 30, 2025 of 
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$1,503,528,522. The pledged revenues are in force during the term of the 2012 and 
2024 Bonds with final maturity on July 1, 2054. 

(g) Events of Default

Events of default under the Master Indenture of Trust related to the 2012 and 2024 Bonds 
include: (a) non-payment of the principal and/or interest due; (b) non-payment of the parity 
purchase price of any outstanding Bond(s) or other parity obligation(s) which are tender 
obligations; (c) a breach of a covenant if the default continues for a period of 120 days after 
written notice specifying such default and requiring the default to be remedied was given to 
the Authority by the Trustee or to the Authority and to the Trustee by the bond owners who 
held not less than 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Bond(s); (d) non-
payment of any parity obligation that is declared due and payable as a result of an event of 
default; and (e) an event of bankruptcy. There is an acceleration remedy in the event of 
default that allows the Trustee, with the consent of each credit provider and at the direction 
of the Bond owners that hold a majority in principal amount of the outstanding Bond(s), to 
declare the principal of the outstanding Bond(s) and interest accrued to the date of payment 
to be immediately due and payable. 

(6) Retirement Plan

Effective February 1, 2023 through June 30, 2026, the Authority entered into a replacement 
Memorandum of Understanding with the Burbank Airport Police Officers Association (BAPOA) 
which includes the continued implementation of a 401(a) employer-sponsored defined 
contribution plan (401(a) Plan) and a 457(b) government deferred compensation plan (457(b) 
Plan) sponsored by the BAPOA. The Authority contributes 7.5%, as of July 1, 2024, of eligible 
base salaries and overtime as a retirement contribution to the 401(a) Plan, payable as part of bi-
weekly payroll. Effective February 1, 2023, officers may make voluntary contributions to the 
457(b) Plan with the Authority matching and contributing up to a maximum of 6% of eligible base 
salaries. Officers may take loans against contributions. All employees are eligible to participate 
upon hire and contributions and earnings vest immediately. The 401(a) Plan and the 457(b) Plan 
are administered by Transamerica Retirement Solutions.

Total salaries and benefits for the Airport Police Officers were $8,248,807 and $7,299,875 for the 
years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The Authority’s contributions have been 
calculated using the base salary plus overtime amount of $5,936,090 and $5,490,268 for the 
years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The Authority made the required accruals 
and contributions, amounting to $429,772 and $368,528 in the years ended June 30, 2025 and 
2024, respectively.
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(7) Leases

As a lessor, the Authority recognizes a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources at the 
commencement of the lease term, with certain exceptions for leases of assets held as 
investments, certain regulated leases, short-term leases, and leases that transfer ownership of 
the underlying asset to lessee. The Authority does not have any leases of assets held as 
investment or leases that transfer ownership of the underlying asset to lessee. As a lessor, the 
asset underlying the lease is not derecognized. The lease receivable is measured at the present 
value of the lease payments expected to be received during the lease term. The deferred inflow 
of resources is measured at the value of the lease receivable in addition to any payments 
received at or before the commencement of the lease term that relate to future periods. For the 
purposes of the GASB Statement No. 87 implementation, the Authority's leases have been 
categorized as follows:

1. Regulated Leases
2. Short-term and Variable Payment Leases
3. Other Leases

(a) Regulated Leases

The Airport does not recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources for 
regulated leases. Regulated leases are certain leases that are subject to external laws, 
regulations, or legal rulings, e.g., the U.S. Department of Transportation and the Federal 
Aviation Administration regulated aviation leases between airports, air carriers and other 
aeronautical users. Regulated leases include the Airport Use Agreement and related airline 
leases, as well as contracts with Fixed Based Operators (FBOs), and aeronautical hangar 
leases.

In FY 2022 the Authority executed amendments to its Airport Use Agreements (AUA) with 
nine commercial airlines (Signatory Airlines), which are set to expire on June 30, 2025. The 
AUAs define the relationship between the Authority and the Signatory Airlines. In exchange 
for authorization to operate at the Airport, including within the passenger terminal, each 
Signatory Airline is responsible for costs of the Airport not covered by other Authority 
revenues such as concession fees, hangar rents, and parking revenues. The AUAs also 
stipulate joint use fees for common shared areas and equipment, office and storage 
spaces, cargo areas, and other air carrier operations support spaces to be used and paid 
for by each Signatory Airline. By definition, the Authority's AUAs are considered regulated 
leases and do not recognize a lease receivable and corresponding deferred inflow of 
resources. 

The Authority also maintains other numerous aeronautical agreements that are considered 
regulated leases. These agreements include two FBOs that provide general aviation 
services and hangar leases for aircraft storage and cargo operations. Revenues from 
regulated leases of $16,900,562 and $16,205,876 were recorded in the years ended June 
30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. These revenue are included in Tenant rent revenues on 
the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position.
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(b) Short-term and Variable Payment Leases

The Airport does not recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources for 
short-term and variable payment leases. Short-term leases are certain leases that, at the 
commencement of the lease term, has a maximum possible term under the lease 
agreement of 12 months (or less), including any options to extend, regardless of their 
probability of being exercised. Month-to-month leases are considered short-term. Variable 
payment leases are certain leases that are not based on fixed amount payments, but rather 
have a variable component such as payments based on a percentage of sales, provisions 
for reallocation of square footage, etc. 

The Authority has various short-term leases for Airport property and land. These short-term 
leases are based on a month-to-month term. Revenues from short-term leases of 
$1,154,033 and $1,293,362 were recorded in the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
respectively. These revenues are included in Parking, Concessions, and Tenant rent 
revenues on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. 

The Authority has various variable payment leases with in-terminal concessions and rental 
car companies. These leases have variable payments based on 1) activities, such as a 
percentage of sales or an amount per transaction, 2) annually adjusted rates, not based on 
an index such as the Consumer Price Index, and square footage re-allocations due to 
activity based metrics, and/or 3) a percentage of the prior year's total remitted amount. 
Revenues from variable payment leases of $10,540,783 and $9,949,431 were recorded in 
the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. These revenues are included in 
Concessions and Tenant rent revenues on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses and 
Changes in Net Position. 

(c) Other Leases

The Authority recognizes a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources for fixed 
payment concession leases and non-aeronautical property leases. Fixed payment 
concession leases include food and beverage, sundries, and advertising tenants at the 
Airport. Non-aeronautical property leases contain various leases for property and space 
that are used for non-aeronautical purposes such as vehicle and equipment storage.

The general terms of the fixed payment concession leases require the greater of a 
minimum annual guarantee (MAG), which is a fixed monthly amount increased annually by 
3% or by defined terms based on an inflation index such as the Consumer Price Index 
(CPI), or a percentage of gross sales to be remitted by the lessee in exchange for the non-
exclusive right, privilege and concession to conduct on-airport business. If the percentage 
of gross sales exceeds the MAG, the excess is remitted as over-MAG revenues. 

The general terms of the Authority's non-aeronautical property leases are based on an 
amount per square footage or a defined annual base rent paid in monthly installments. 
These amounts are usually adjusted annually based on CPI. 
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At June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Authority's current lease receivables are $3,055,491 and 
$3,251,476, respectively, and noncurrent lease receivables are $583,411 and $3,525,701, 
respectively. For each of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Authority 
reported lease revenue, included in Concessions and Tenant rent on the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, of $7,341,190 and $7,528,118, 
respectively, of which $2,679,822 and $2,473,620, respectively, were related to over-MAG 
revenues. Additionally, for each fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, the Authority 
reported interest income of $173,823 and $267,547, respectively, related to lease payments 
received.

The future expected lease receivable and revenue balances are summarized as follows:

Fiscal year 
ending June 30:

Beginning 
Lease 

Receivable
Annual Lease 

Revenue

Ending
Lease 

Receivable
Interest 
Revenue

2026 $ 3,638,902 $ 3,055,491 $ 583,411 $ 68,812 
2027  583,411  583,411  —  4,315 

(8) Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements

The Authority recognizes a subscription liability and a subscription asset at the commencement 
of a subscription-based information technology arrangement (SBITA) term unless the 
subscription is a short-term SBITA. The subscription liability is measured at the present value of 
payments expected to be made during the subscription term, less any vendor incentives.  The 
subscription asset is measured at the amount of the initial measurement of the subscription 
liability, plus any payments made to the SBITA vendor at the commencement of the subscription 
term, and certain initial implementation costs. The subscription asset is reported as an intangible 
right to use asset under the capital assets section in the Statements of Net Position. The 
Authority has established a reporting materiality threshold of $100,000 per asset for the 
application of GASB Statement No. 96 and determination of in-scope SBITA contracts. 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 96, the Authority recognizes a subscription liability and 
a subscription asset for SBITAs the Authority categorizes as in-scope of GASB Statement No. 
96.  The Authority maintains three in-scope SBITAs for certain airport management operations 
that include a FAA Part 139 compliance and safety management system, a procurement 
management system, and an airport gate management system. These SBITAs are multi-year 
agreements with fixed monthly or annual subscription pricing that do not include any variable 
payment terms or other additional payment terms, such as termination penalties. 

The subscription assets as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaled $660,984 and $660,984, 
respectively, and the related accumulated amortization as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaled 
$507,505 and $366,130, respectively.  The remaining subscription liabilities, including both 
current and noncurrent portions, as of June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaled $102,227 and $180,190, 
respectively. The amount of expenses recognized for fiscal years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 
for variable and other payments not previously included in the measurement of the subscription 
liabilities was $0 for both fiscal years. 
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Principal and interest requirements to maturity for subscription liabilities are summarized as 
follows:

Fiscal year 
ending June 30:

Beginning 
Subscription 

Liabilities Principal

Ending 
Subscription 

Liabilities
Interest 
Expense

2025 $ 180,190 $ 77,963 $ 102,227 $ 6,096 
2026  102,227  75,389  26,838  3,375 
2027  26,838  26,838  —  1,162 

(9) Passenger Facility Charges

In June 1994, the FAA approved the Authority’s application to collect a $3.00 PFC per enplaned 
passenger to provide funds for specifically approved airport improvement projects to begin 
September 1, 1994. Effective April 1, 2003, the FAA approved an increase of the charge from 
$3.00 to $4.50. PFC funds collected are restricted and may only be used on specific FAA 
approved projects. All PFC funds collected are maintained in a separate interest-bearing account 
administered by the Authority prior to disbursement. 

Total PFC revenue for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaled $16,813,453 and 
$15,932,930, respectively. These amounts include interest income net of any unrealized gain or 
loss from the change in fair market valuation of the PFC investment portfolio totaling $3,716,539 
and $3,145,765, respectively. 

During the year ended June 30, 2025, funds totaling $5,805,591 for eligible costs expended on 
PFC projects during FY 2025 were reimbursed to the Operating Fund from the PFC Fund. During 
the year ended June 30, 2024, funds totaling $15,676,455 for eligible costs expended on PFC 
projects during FY 2024 were reimbursed to the Operating Fund from the PFC Fund. 

(10) Customer Facility Charges

Effective December 1, 2009, the Authority adopted a $10 CFC per rental car transaction to 
provide for the planning, design, construction and financing of a CRCF in accordance with 
California Civil Code Section 1936 et. seq., as amended. Effective July 1, 2011, the Authority 
implemented an alternative CFC rate of $6 per rental car transaction day up to a maximum of five 
days. All CFC funds collected are maintained in a separate account administered by the Authority 
prior to disbursement. CFC revenue for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaled 
$5,913,505 and $5,397,765, respectively. In accordance with the Bond Indenture, all CFC 
revenues collected subsequent to July 1, 2014 are transferred to the 2012 Bonds Debt Service 
Fund, which amounted to $5,810,980 and $5,330,885 for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 
2024, respectively. CFC revenues plus residual Facility Rent, as necessary, are used to pay debt 
service on the 2012 Bonds. The balance in the CFC Fund of $1,568,839 is available for uses in 
accordance with the agreements between the Authority and the RACs for operation in the CRCF. 
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(11) Related-Party Transactions

The Authority is charged for services and items from City of Burbank departments that are 
categorized in the various expense line items in the statements of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net position and are included in various capital assets for permits and related fees. 
The most significant related-party transactions with the City are payments for utilities and City 
parking tax. Amounts due to related parties at June 30, 2025 and 2024 are included in accounts 
payable and accrued expenses on the accompanying basic financial statements.

The Airport is subject to a 12% tax on parking revenue payable to the City of Burbank on a 
quarterly basis. The Authority incurred parking tax expense totaling $3,693,430 and $3,143,961 
during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. Amounts due to the City of 
Burbank for parking taxes were $973,541 and $829,503 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

The Authority incurred electricity, water, and wastewater utilities expenses related to various 
operating activities, non-operating activities, and capital projects from Burbank Water and Power 
during the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 totaling $3,007,091 and $2,898,369 (including 
amounts charged back to tenants of $805,598 and $852,324), respectively. Amounts due to 
Burbank Water and Power were $249,205 and $274,428 at June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
respectively. 

The Authority approved deposit payments for aid-in-construction and plan check fees with the 
City of Burbank for Burbank Water and Power to purchase long-lead electrical infrastructure 
items required to provide temporary and eventually permanent power to the Replacement 
Passenger Terminal. The deposits of $20,980,970 and $1,411,000, for aid-in-construction and 
plan check fees, respectively, were paid during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025 and 2024. An 
additional $40,000 was paid to Burbank Water and Power in June 2024 for site inspection fees. 

(12) Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Litigation and Claims

The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; workers’ compensation; war risk and natural 
disasters for which the Authority carries commercial insurance, subject to deductibles 
ranging from $1,000 to $100,000. No settlements exceeded insurance coverage in the past 
three fiscal years. There were no significant lawsuits or claims pending against the 
Authority at June 30, 2025.
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(b) Contracted Services

The Authority has contracted with TBI to perform certain airport administrative, 
maintenance, ARFF services, and operational services. Compensation under the 
agreement is based on a base management fee and reimbursement of operating costs, 
primarily salaries and benefits. A budget for TBI costs is prepared each year and is subject 
to review and approval as part of the Authority’s annual budget process. The management 
fee is adjusted annually based on increases or decreases to certain operating costs. Costs 
incurred under the contract for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively, are 
as follows:

2025 2024
Contracted airport services $ 18,304,342 $ 16,857,148 
Aircraft rescue and firefighting services  4,364,700  4,238,948 
Capitalized to constructed capital assets  2,392  37,340 
Other expenses  116,747  139,924 
Total airport management contract costs $ 22,788,181 $ 21,273,360 

The Authority has contracted with Ace Parking for self-park management and valet parking 
services. Compensation under the contract is based on a fixed management fee and 
reimbursement of operating costs. These costs are subject to review and approval as part 
of the Authority’s annual budget process. Costs under the contract for the years ended 
June 30, 2025 and 2024 are $5,501,801 and $5,503,008, respectively. 

Ace Parking also provides turn-key employee and customer shuttle services to and from 
the Airport's remote parking lots. The costs of the shuttle services for the years ended June 
30, 2025 and 2024 are $2,198,729 and $2,335,769, respectively.

(c) Contract Commitments

The Authority had significant contract commitments outstanding as of June 30, 2025 for 
various capital projects totaling $654,870,349, of which approximately 98.6% was for the 
RPT project with the remaining for the Part 150 Noise Study, Runway / Taxiway Shoulder 
Rehabilitation Design, Building 36 Security / Ramp Access Doors Replacement, Mobile 
Police Firearms Training Range, Escalator Rehabilitation / Replacement, SEQ 
Reconfiguration Design, SEQ RPS Reconfiguration Construction, and Taxiway A/C 
Extension Design projects.  

(d) Federal and Other Grants

As of June 30, 2025, the Authority had nonexpended, noncancelable grant commitments of 
$27,785,512 of which $26,861,591 is related to the RPT design and construction, and 
$923,921 for the Part 150 Noise Study.
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The Authority has been awarded various federal and other grants. Grants awarded and 
expenditures against those grants for the years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024, 
respectively, are as follows:

Expenditures charged to 
grant

Award Date
Award 

Amount Project description 2025 2024

Dec. 2021 $ 2,560,424 ARPA Concessions Rent Relief $ 1,577,203 $ 396,947 
Jul. 2023  851,601 Replacement ARFF Truck  851,601  — 
Jul. 2023  102,833 Wildlife Hazard Assessment Mngmt. Plan  41,663  61,169 
Sep. 2023  1,625,370 Noise Compatibility Plan Study  451,329  250,120 
Sep. 2023  30,000,000 RPT Phase 1 Design (65.54% of Design)  6,711,687  12,295,068 
Sep. 2023  15,890,229 RPT Phase 1 Design (34.46% of Design)  7,994,459  2,072,724 
Aug. 2024  17,300,000 RPT Phase II Construction  14,449,699  — 
Aug. 2024  8,167,605 RPT Phase II Construction  8,167,605  — 

          Total expenditures charged to federal grants  40,245,246  15,076,028 

May 2022  60,000 
Cal OES High Frequency Communications 
Equipment Program  —  60,000 

          Total expenditures charged to local grants  —  60,000 

          Total expenditures charged to grants $ 40,245,246 $ 15,136,028 

The ARPA concessions rent relief grant provided direct pass-through funding to eligible 
concessionaires for financial relief from COVID-19 pandemic impacts at the Airport. The FY 
2025 amount above represents total credits applied to concessionaire rent and MAG, 
reported in the Authority's concession revenue line item on the Statements of Revenues, 
Expenses and Changes in Net Position and reducing the Authority’s unearned revenue on 
the Statements of Net Position for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. In FY 2024 this 
amount represents the Authority's recovery of financial relief previously provided to 
concessionaires during the pandemic, and is reported in the Authority's other noncapital 
grants line item for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024, with the remaining amount 
recorded as unearned revenue on the Statements of Net Position.

Amounts received or receivable from granting agencies are subject to audit and adjustment 
by grantor agencies. While no matters of noncompliance were disclosed by the audit of the 
financial statements or single audit of the federal grant programs which resulted in 
disallowed costs, grantor agencies may subject grant programs to additional compliance 
tests, which may result in disallowed costs. In the opinion of management, the Authority has 
complied with provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, 
noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of 
financial statement amounts.

Subsequent to June 30, 2025, the Authority received two FAA administered IIJA grants and 
one AIP grant in the amounts of $9.3 million (Airport Terminal Program), $8.1 million (Airport 
Infrastructure Grants) and $7.9 million for the RPT project, respectively.
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(13) Replacement Passenger Terminal Project

The Replacement Passenger Terminal (RPT) project, as defined in the Development Agreement 
between the City of Burbank and the Authority, includes a 14-gate replacement passenger 
terminal of 355,000 square feet, associated aircraft ramp,  parking facilities, ground service 
equipment and cargo support facilities, a new terminal loop roadway, and demolition of the 
existing 14-gate passenger terminal. 

Since the passage of Measure B, the Authority has advanced the RPT project through key 
regulatory, planning, and financial milestones. After an 18-month COVID-19 pandemic 
suspension, the project was reinstated in 2021. In May 2022, Jacobs Project Management Co. 
assumed program management responsibilities of the project. The Authority selected and the 
FAA approved the progressive design-build delivery method for the project. On December 19, 
2022, the Authority awarded a progressive design-build agreement to Holder, Pankow, TEC Joint 
Venture (HPTJV). The Authority selected the “Icon” design concept in 2023, broke ground in 
January 2024, and approved a $1.11 billion guaranteed maximum price (GMP) in May 2024 
within an overall project budget of $1.3 billion.

As part of the RPT's Plan of Finance, the Authority issued $724.8 million in General Airport 
Revenue Bonds in May 2024 to finance a large portion of the RPT project, pay interest on the 
2024 Bonds through April 1, 2027, purchase a debt service reserve surety and municipal bond 
insurance policies, and pay for the costs of issuance. The Authority also has standby letters of 
credit of $200 million that have not yet been utilized. The Authority continues to seek additional 
federal funding as the project progresses. 

During FY 2025, the Authority received two FAA IIJA-BIL grants in the amount of $17.3 million 
(Airport Terminal Program) and $8.2 million (Airport Infrastructure Grants) for eligible building 
construction element costs of the project. In addition, the Authority received approval to collect 
and use PFC Application 22 in the amount of $13.3 million to serve as the local match to 
previously awarded FAA IIJA-BIL grants. These amounts, together with the $45.9 million in FAA 
IIJA–BIL grants for eligible design and preconstruction costs approved in FY 2024 and the $48.4 
million from PFC Application 21 for eligible design costs approved in FY 2023, represented the 
federal funding sources utilized during FY 2025 for the RPT project. Subsequent to June 30, 
2025, the Authority received two additional FAA IIJA grants, an $8.1 million Airport Infrastructure 
Grant in August 2025 and a $9.3 million Airport Terminal Program grant in October 2025, along 
with a $7.9 million FAA Airport Improvement Program grant in October 2025. The final FY 2026 
bond issuance is anticipated in Q4 FY 2026.

In FY 2025, the Authority advanced the terminal’s design, completed major steel work, and 
achieved the topping out of the structural frame in January 2025. Site work continued with 
grading, utility installation, and key infrastructure preparation, while the parking garage basement 
was finished and vertical construction began. Interior and exterior systems have also progressed, 
including installation of mechanical, electrical, and plumbing systems as well as early work on the 
building enclosure, such as the curtain wall system. By June 2025, the project had moved fully 
into enclosure and interior build-out, with the terminal on schedule for its planned October 2026 
opening.

More information and ongoing updates to the RPT project can be found at www.elevatebur.com.
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance With Applicable Requirements of the  
Customer Facility Charge Program; Report on Internal Control Over Compliance; and 

Report on Schedule of Customer Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures  

The Honorable Board of Commissioners 
Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
Burbank, California 

Report on Compliance With Applicable Requirements of the Customer Facility Charge Program 

Opinion 

We have audited the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority’s (Authority) compliance with the 
compliance requirements described in the California Civil Code Chapter 1.5 (commencing with 
Section 1939.01) to Title 5 of Part 4 of Division 3, and California Government Code Section 50474.1 
through Section 50474.3 (CFC Code), applicable to the Authority’s customer facility charge (CFC) program 
for the year ended June 30, 2025. 

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 
to above that are applicable to the Authority’s CFC program for the year ended June 30, 2025. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance. Our audit does 
not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred 
to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

The Authority’s management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable 
to the Authority’s CFC program. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the Authority’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS 
and Government Auditing Standards will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, if there 
is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Authority’s compliance with the requirements of the 
CFC program as a whole.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of the Authority’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the compliance requirements of the CFC
program, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.  

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance on a timely basis. A material weakness in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a compliance 
requirement will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist 
that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the compliance requirements of 
the CFC program. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Report on Schedule of Customer Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures 

We have audited the basic financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, 
and have issued our report thereon dated December 22, 2025, which contained an unmodified opinion on 
those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic 
financial statements as a whole. The accompanying Schedule of Customer Facility Charge Revenues 
and Expenditures (CFC Schedule) is presented for purposes of additional analysis, and is not a required 
part of the Authority’s basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
In our opinion, the CFC Schedule is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 

Walnut Creek, California 
December 22, 2025 
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 7 (Continued) 

(1) General 

Assembly Bill 491 of the 2001-2002 California Legislature (codified in California Civil Code Section 
1936 et seq. (Code)) authorized the local imposition of a Customer Facility Charge (CFC) and use 
of CFC revenue to plan, finance, design and construct on-airport consolidated rental car facilities 
(CRCF). The Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority (Authority), owner and operator of Bob 
Hope Airport, commonly known as Hollywood Burbank Airport (Airport), began discussions with 
the rent-a-car operators at the Airport in the winter of 2008 to identify a project that would 
consolidate the rent-a-car operations at the Airport.  

This project consolidated the rent-a-car operations at the Airport into a single facility. This project 
also relocated the rental car ready return facility that was partially located in the Runway 33 runway 
safety area. As part of a larger Regional Intermodal Transportation Center (RITC), the CRCF 
contains the customer service, ready return, and quick turnaround facilities, and rental car fueling 
and delivery systems. The consolidation of these facilities eliminated over 700,000 annual trips by 
rental car companies on Empire Avenue between the former ready return lot and the prior service 
center facilities used for the washing and fueling of the rental cars on the southwest quadrant of 
the Airport. A replacement parking structure (RPS) was also constructed to replace the then 
existing parking spaces on the RITC site. 

On September 21, 2009, the Authority approved Resolution No. 429 authorizing collection of a 
CFC, effective December 1, 2009, of $10 per rental car contract for an initial period of two years to 
fund the planning and other initial costs of a CRCF. It was anticipated that the Authority would 
proceed with construction and financing of the CRCF, and that the collection authority period would 
be extended accordingly. The CRCF was also expected to be financed through a then yet to be 
determined bond issuance and loan from the Authority both supported by CFC revenues and 
residual rent from the rental car companies, as required.    

Based on an amendment of the enabling legislation for the CFC (S.B. 1192; Chapter 642, Statutes 
of 2010), on December 10, 2010, the Authority approved Resolution No. 439 which repealed 
Resolution No. 429 and authorized collection of an alternative CFC, effective July 1, 2011, of $6 
per rental car transaction day up to a maximum of five days. Resolution No. 439 authorized 
collection of the alternative CFC through the period that any debt related to the CRCF is 
outstanding. The enabling legislation was further amended on September 27, 2017 by Assembly 
Bill No. 218, Chapter 311, September 27, 2022 by Assembly Bill No. 157, Chapter 570, and 
October 10, 2023 by Assembly Bill No. 534, Chapter 657. 

(2) Regional Intermodal Transportation Center Project 

The Authority approved planning and other related activities to prepare and submit a Development 
Review (DR) package to the City of Burbank (City) to obtain entitlements to construct a CRCF as 
part of a larger RITC project. The portion of the DR package costs for the RITC project attributable 
to the CRCF expended through June 25, 2010 are included in the accompanying Schedule of 
Customer Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures (Schedule) on page 5. 
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On August 24, 2010, the City approved entitlements and minor amendments to the Development 
Agreement (an agreement between the Authority and the City that sets guidelines on Airport 
development and provides greater certainty to the City and Authority on issues of Airport zoning 
and development) to permit the Authority to proceed with the RITC project to be located in the 
southeast corner of the A-1 North Property. This project includes a transportation center and the 
CRCF described above.  

On April 23, 2012, the Authority approved a revised Plan of Finance with an estimated cost of 
$99.5 million, as well as the form of non-exclusive on-airport rental car lease and concession 
agreement.  

On May 10, 2012, the Authority issued $82,165,000 of 2012 Airport Revenue Bonds (2012 Bonds) 
with an effective interest rate of 5.624% and at an original issue premium totaling $187,886. The 
2012 Bonds, issued as parity bonds with the 2005 Airport Revenue Bonds, were issued in two 
series (i) to finance those costs of the RITC project consisting of the CRCF and the portion of the 
costs of the RPS attributable to the parking spaces displaced by the CRCF (2012 Bond Project); 
(ii) to fund the 2012 Debt Service Reserve Fund; (iii) to provide capitalized interest with respect to 
the 2012 Bonds through July 1, 2014; and to pay the costs of issuance of the 2012 Bonds. The 
2012 Bonds are special obligations of the Authority payable solely from, and secured solely by a 
pledge of, the net revenues and amounts in certain funds established under the Master Indenture 
of Trust, as amended, and the Debt Service Reserve Fund.  

Construction on the RITC project continued in fiscal year (FY) 2013 and FY 2014, with completion 
in FY 2015. The replacement parking structure was completed and opened for business on 
August 1, 2013 and the CRCF was substantially completed and opened to the public for business 
on July 15, 2014. The RITC project has been funded by a combination of 2012 Revenue Bonds, 
CFCs, and federal grants. Cumulative expenditures on the RITC project through completion in FY 
2015 totaled $99,487,109, which consisted of $77,662,736 for the CRCF, $7,270,208 for the 
Customer Service Building, $3,000,150 for the Transit Center, and $11,554,015 for the 
replacement parking structure. 

(3) Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying Schedule is presented using the cash basis of accounting, whereby revenues 
and expenditures are recognized during the period in which they are received or disbursed. 
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(4) Schedule of Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures
The accompanying Schedule presents the revenues received from CFC and expenditures
disbursed on the CRCF and towards debt service on the 2012 Bonds.

Debt service on the 2012 Bonds is funded from CFCs and residual Facility Rents paid by the RACs.
In accordance with the Bond Indenture, beginning July 1, 2014, all CFCs collected are transferred
to the 2012 Bonds Debt Service Fund held by the bond trustee. In FY 2025, $5,878,768 was
collected and $5,810,980 was transferred. The difference in the amounts collected and transferred
is due to the timing of when CFCs are received and transferred.

As of June 30, 2025, the Authority had cumulative CFCs collected of $76,372,921 and cumulative
CFC eligible expenditures of $74,804,082 as detailed on the accompanying Schedule of Customer
Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures (Schedule) on page 5. The remaining balance in the
CFC Fund of $1,568,839 at June 30, 2025 is available for use in accordance with the agreements
between the Authority and the RACs for operation in the CRCF.

Cumulative total columns on the Schedule are presented for additional analytical data. Such
information is not necessary for a fair presentation of the Schedule.

(5) Customer Facility Charge Rate Modification Report
In accordance with requirements of the Code, the Authority prepared a Customer Facility Charge
Rate Modification Report which included a forecast of costs to finance, design, construct, and/or
operate allowable CFC facilities, and a determination that (i) the forecasted aggregate amount of
the alternative CFC collected does not exceed the reasonable costs of allowable facilities; (ii) the
Authority has taken steps to limit the forecasted costs; (iii) the Authority has identified and
considered potential alternatives for meeting its revenue needs other than the collection of the
alternative CFC; and (iv) the Authority has assessed the extent to which rental car companies or
other businesses or individuals using these facilities may pay for the costs of these facilities. This
CFC Rate Modification Report was examined by an independent accountant whose report, dated
March 22, 2011, was unqualified. In accordance with requirements of the Code, the report was
also reviewed by the State Controller’s Office which provided its review report dated May 11, 2011
to the Authority and the California State Legislature (including Assembly Judiciary Committee,
Senate Judiciary Committee, Assembly Transportation Committee, and Senate Transportation and
Housing Committee), which substantiated the need for the imposition of the alternate CFC effective
July 1, 2011.

9 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance 
With Aspects of Contractual Agreements 

The Honorable Board of Commissioners 
Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
Burbank, California 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena 
Airport Authority (Authority) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements, and have 
issued our report thereon dated December 22, 2025. 

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the Authority 
failed to comply with the terms, covenants, provisions, or conditions of Section 6.05 (Rates and Charges) 
to Article VI of the Amended and Restated Master Indenture of Trust, dated May 1, 2005, and amended 
and restated as of May 1, 2024 (the Indenture), with Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, insofar as 
they relate to accounting matters. However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining 
knowledge of such noncompliance. Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, other matters 
may have come to our attention regarding the Authority’s noncompliance with the above-referenced terms, 
covenants, provisions, or conditions of Section 6.05 of the Indenture, insofar as they relate to accounting 
matters. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Commissioners and management 
of the Authority and the Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company and is not intended to be and should 
not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Walnut Creek, California 
December 22, 2025 



Revenues 
(2)

$ 90,992,164   

Less operating expenses 62,023,348   

Net revenues 28,968,816   

Transfers to Surplus Fund 
(3)

1,458,284   

Net revenues plus transfers to Surplus Fund $ 30,427,100   

Deposits and charges:

Accrued debt service – 2012 Airport Revenue Bonds 
(4)

$ 5,833,134   

Deposit of Customer Facility Charge revenue to Debt Service Fund (5,810,980)  

Net accrued debt service 22,154   

Deposits to operating reserve account 
(5)

817,044   

Total deposits and charges $ 839,198   

Deposits and charges coverage ratio 
(6)

36.26   

Required deposits and charges coverage ratio 1.00   

Net revenues plus transfers to Surplus Fund $ 30,427,100   

Net accrued debt service $ 22,154   

Debt service coverage ratio 1,373.42   

Required debt service coverage ratio 1.25   

(1)
The table above sets forth the rates and charges ratio based upon the Authority’s excess of net revenues 

and transfers to Surplus Fund over accrued debt service obligations, as well as other charges for the fiscal 

year ended June 30, 2025. Amounts were determined based on the terms, covenants, provisions, or 

conditions of Section 6.05 to Article VI of the Amended and Restated Master Indenture dated May 1, 2024

with Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company (the Indenture).

(2)
Revenues are defined in the Indenture and generally consist of operating revenues and investment earnings.

(3)
Transfers to Surplus Fund equal 25% of accrued debt service on Outstanding Senior Obligations, as permitted

by the Indenture.

(4)
Accrued debt service represents the interest due on January 1, 2025 and July 1, 2025 and principal due 

July 1, 2025.

(5)
Deposits to the operating reserve account represent the amount needed to maintain a reserve equivalent to 

one‑fourth of the Fiscal Year 2025 annual operating and maintenance expense budget.

(6)
Deposits and charges coverage ratio fulfills the requirement set forth in Section 6.05(a) to Article VI of the 

Indenture.

BURBANK-GLENDALE-PASADENA AIRPORT AUTHORITY

Calculation of Rates and Charges Ratio
(1)

Year Ended June 30, 2025

2
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance With Applicable Requirements of the  
Passenger Facility Charge Program; Report on Internal Control Over Compliance  

in Accordance With the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies; and 
Report on Schedule of Passenger Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures 

The Honorable Board of Commissioners 
Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
Burbank, California 

Report on Compliance With Applicable Requirements of the Passenger Facility Charge Program 

Opinion 

We have audited the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority’s (Authority) compliance with the 
compliance requirements described in the Passenger Facility Charge Audit Guide for Public Agencies (PFC 
Guide), issued by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA), applicable to the Authority’s Passenger 
Facility Charge (PFC) program for the year ended June 30, 2025.  

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 
to above that are applicable to the Authority’s PFC program for the year ended June 30, 2025. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit requirements of the PFC Guide. Our responsibilities under those standards and 
the PFC Guide are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section 
of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance. Our audit does 
not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred 
to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

The Authority’s management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above, and 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable 
to the Authority’s PFC program. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the Authority’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the PFC Guide will always detect material noncompliance when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is 
considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Authority’s 
compliance with the requirements of the PFC program as a whole.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the PFC Guide, 
we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of the Authority’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the PFC Guide, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.  

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance With the Passenger Facility Charge 
Audit Guide for Public Agencies 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance on a timely basis. A material weakness in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a compliance 
requirement will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important 
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.   
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance.  Given these limitations, during our audit we did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, 
as defined above. However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance.  Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the PFC 
Guide. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

Report on Schedule of Passenger Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures 

We have audited the basic financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, 
and have issued our report thereon dated December 22, 2025, which contained an unmodified opinion on 
those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic 
financial statements as a whole. The accompanying Schedule of Passenger Facility Charge Revenues 
and Expenditures (PFC Schedule) is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by the PFC 
Guide and is not a required part of the Authority’s basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the PFC Schedule is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Walnut Creek, California 
December 22, 2025 
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(1) General 

The Aviation Safety and Capacity Expansion Act of 1990 (Public Law 101-508, Title II, Subtitle B) 
authorized the local imposition of Passenger Facility Charges (PFC) and use of PFC revenue on 
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) approved projects. On June 17, 1994, the FAA approved 
a $3.00 Passenger Facility Charge collection at the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
(Authority) effective September 1, 1994. Subsequently, in fiscal year (FY) 2003, the FAA approved 
an increase in the collection fee from $3.00 to $4.50 at the Authority effective April 1, 2003. 

There are a total of 11 active Applications (approved PFC projects) as of June 30, 2025 with 
Application No. 25-22-C-00-BUR submitted and approved during the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2025. 

The Impose Amount represents the total Collection Authority for the application and the Use 
Amount represents the total Use Authority for the application. Differences between the Impose 
Amount and Use Amount for a specific application are because, in certain applications, an Impose 
Only amount was included in one application with the corresponding Use Amount being approved 
and included in a different application(s). Use Authority of Application No. 96-02-U-02-BUR of 
$27,829,178 is included in the Collection Authority of Application No. 94-01-C-03-BUR. 
Additionally, $2,860,931 and $11,658,380 of the Use Authority of Application Nos. 09-09-C-03-
BUR and 09-10-C-03-BUR, respectively, are included in the Collection Authority of Application No. 
06-07-C-09-BUR. 

These approved amounts are reflected on the accompanying Schedule of Passenger Facility 
Charge Revenues and Expenditures (Schedule) on page 5. 

(2) Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying Schedule is presented using the cash basis of accounting, whereby revenues 
and expenditures are recognized during the period in which they are received or disbursed. 

(3) Schedule of Passenger Facility Charge Revenues and Expenditures 

The accompanying Schedule presents the PFC revenues received and expenditures disbursed on 
approved projects. The Schedule includes the application number of the latest amendment, the 
original application approval date, and the total application approval amount, as amended. 

Revenues received and expenditures spent on approved projects in the accompanying Schedule 
agree with the amounts reported in the PFC Quarterly Status Reports submitted by the Authority 
to the FAA. 

Cumulative total columns on the Schedule are presented for additional analytical data. Such 
information is not necessary for a fair presentation of the Schedule. 
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(4) Interest Earned 

The excess of PFC revenues collected over expenditures incurred on qualifying PFC projects is 
invested by the Authority’s investment manager in accordance with the Authority’s Investment 
Policy. Permitted investments include U.S. Treasury securities, U.S. Agency securities, Medium-
Term Corporate Notes and Money Market Funds invested in U.S. Treasury Securities. These 
investments, which are allowed for a maximum of five years, are generally held to maturity. The 
rate of return on these investments is dependent upon the market yield at the time they were 
purchased. Accordingly, when the coupon rate for such investments is different from the market 
yield on such investments, the investments are purchased at a premium or discount to par to reflect 
such market yield.  

In addition, for investments purchased on a date other than the interest payment date for that 
investment, the interest from the beginning of that coupon period is paid together with the purchase 
price plus premium or minus discount. The next coupon payment on such investment will be for 
the whole coupon period.  

On the accrual basis of accounting, such premiums or discounts are amortized over the life of the 
investment and purchased interest is treated as interest receivable. Because the accompanying 
Schedule reflects the cash basis of accounting, such premiums or discounts are only recognized 
when the investment matures or is sold, rather than over the life of the investment, and such 
purchased interest is deducted from interest revenue in the period purchased. When premiums on 
maturing investments and purchased interest exceed the sum of coupon payments received, 
discounts on maturing investments and gain (loss) on sale of investments, it will result in negative 
interest earned for that quarter.   
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The components of interest received — coupon payments received; gain (loss) on sale of 
investments, net; interest purchased at investment purchase date, and impact of 
investments purchased at a discount (premium), net — for the year ended June 30, 2025 
are as follows: 

Interest Impact of maturing
Coupon Gain (loss) purchased at investments purchased

Payments on sale of investment at a discount
Month Received investments, net purchase date (premium), net Total

July 2024 $ 84,413 $ —  $ —  $ 3,754 $ 88,167
August 2024 78,734 —  —  (28,509) 50,225

September 2024 165,712 (49,092) (9,943) 56,164 162,841

328,859 (49,092) (9,943) 31,409 301,233

October 2024 65,668 —  —  81,300 146,968
November 2024 70,838 —  —  71,699 142,537
December 2024 58,581 —  —  47,550 106,131

195,087 —  —  200,549 395,636

January 2025 81,329 —  —  39,740 121,069
February 2025 63,826 —  —  55,032 118,858

March 2025 227,158 (4,979) (229,276) 41,060 33,963

372,313 (4,979) (229,276) 135,832 273,890

April 2025 114,731 —  (8,156) 41,183 147,758
May 2025 82,514 —  (8,692) (36,002) 37,820

June 2025 64,619 —  (44,423) 70,634 90,830

261,864 —  (61,271) 75,815 276,408

          Total $ 1,158,123 $ (54,071) $ (300,490) $ 443,605 $ 1,247,167
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December 22, 2025 

To the Honorable Board of Commissioners 
Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
Burbank, California 

We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the basic financial statements of the Burbank-
Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority (Authority) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025. This report 
summarizes certain matters required by professional standards to be communicated to you in your oversight 
responsibility for the Authority’s financial reporting process.  

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Commissioners and management, 
and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. It will be 
our pleasure to respond to any questions you have about this report. We appreciate the opportunity to 
continue to be of service to the Authority. 

Walnut Creek, California 
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS 

Auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (AU-C 260, The Auditor’s 
Communication With Those Charged With Governance) require the auditor to promote effective two-way 
communication between the auditor and those charged with governance. Consistent with this requirement, 
the following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the financial statement audits as well as 
observations arising from our audits that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to oversee the 
financial reporting process. 
 
Our Responsibilities With Regard to the Financial Statement Audits  
 
Our responsibilities under auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
Government Auditing Standards have been described to you in our engagement letter dated 
September 10, 2025. Our audit of the Authority’s financial statements does not relieve management or those 
charged with governance of their responsibilities, which are also described in that letter. 
 
Overview of the Planned Scope and Timing of the Financial Statement Audits 
 
We conducted our audits consistent with the planned scope and timing in our engagement letter dated 
September 10, 2025. 
 
Accounting Policies and Practices 
 
Preferability of Accounting Policies and Practices 
Under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, in certain circumstances, 
management may select among alternative accounting practices. In our view, in such circumstances, 
management has selected the preferable accounting practice. 
 
Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies 
Management has the ultimate responsibility for the appropriateness of the accounting policies used by the 
Authority.  A summary of the significant policies adopted by the Authority is included in Note 2 to the 
financial statements.  As described in Note 2.R. to the financial statements, the following is a description 
of Governmental Accounting Standards board (GASB) Statements that the Authority implemented during 
the year:  
 
• GASB Statement No. 101 – Compensated Absences 

The objective of this statement is to better meet the informational needs of financial statement users 
by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for compensated absences. That objective 
is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance under a unified model and by 
amending certain previously required disclosures. This statement requires that liabilities for 
compensated absences be recognized for (1) leave that has not been used and (2) leave that has 
been used but not yet paid in cash or settled through noncash means. A liability should be 
recognized for leave that has not been used if (a) the leave is attributable to services already 
rendered, (b) the leave accumulates, and (c) the leave is more likely than not to be used for time off 
or otherwise paid in cash or settled through noncash means.  Implementation of this statement did 
not have a significant impact on the Authority’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2025. 
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• GASB Statement No. 102 – Certain Risk Disclosures
The objective of this statement is to provide information to users of government financial 
statements about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations or 
constraints. This statement defines concentration as a lack of diversity related to an aspect of a 
significant inflow or outflow of resources. A constraint is a limitation imposed on a government by 
an external party or by formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making 
authority. Implementation of this statement did not have a significant impact on the Authority’s 
financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. 

Significant Accounting Policies 
We did not identify any significant accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there 
is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

Significant Unusual Transactions 
We did not identify any significant unusual transactions. 

Management’s Judgments and Accounting Estimates 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the preparation of financial statements and are based upon 
management’s current judgment.  The process used by management encompasses their knowledge and 
experience about past and current events, and certain assumptions about future events. You may wish to 
monitor throughout the year the process used to determine and record these accounting estimates.   

The following is summary information about the process used by management in formulating particularly 
sensitive accounting estimates and about our conclusions regarding the reasonableness of those estimates: 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Measurement 
of investments 
at fair value 

The Authority’s investments are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of 
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, and 
accordingly, its fair value measurements are categorized within the fair value 
hierarchy established by the standard.  The following levels indicate the hierarchy of 
inputs used to measure fair value and the primary valuation methodologies used for 
financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

o Level 1 – Investments whose values are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) for
identical assets in active markets that a government can access at the
measurement date.

o Level 2 – Investments whose values are based on inputs – other than quoted
prices including prices included within level 1 – that are observable for an asset,
either directly or indirectly.

o Level 3 – Investments whose values are based on unobservable inputs for an
asset and may require a degree of professional judgment.

MGO compared investment values from quoted market information and using 
pricing applications and models obtained from custodian bank, fiscal agents or other 
sources and determined that they were reasonable.  



5 

Significant Accounting Estimates 

Depreciation and 
amortization of capital 
assets, including 
depreciation/amortization 
methods and useful lives 
assigned to 
depreciable/amortizable 
property 

Useful lives or, in the case of intangible right-to-use lease and 
subscription-based information technology arrangement (SBITA) assets, 
the shorter of useful lives or the lease/subscription term, for 
depreciable/amortizable capital assets were determined by management 
based on the nature of the capital asset. Depreciation/amortization was 
calculated based on the straight-line method. 

MGO assessed the reasonableness of the useful lives based on the nature 
of the capital assets and performed substantive analytical procedures on 
depreciation/amortization expense and determined the estimates were 
reasonable. 

Measurement of the lease 
receivables 

The discount rate used for the calculation of the lease receivables is based 
on the Authority’s estimated incremental borrowing rate using Municipal 
Market Data (MMD) scales from Refinitiv TM3 (The Municipal Market 
Monitor). 

Audit Adjustments and Uncorrected Misstatements  

There were no uncorrected or corrected misstatements that were material to the financial statements. 

Departure From the Auditor’s Standard Report 

There were no departures from the Auditor’s Standard Report. 

Observations About the Audit Process  

Disagreements With Management 
We encountered no disagreements with management over the application of significant accounting 
principles, the basis for management’s judgments on any significant matters, the scope of the audit or 
significant disclosures to be included in the Authority’s financial statements.  

Consultations With Other Accountants 
We are not aware of any consultations management had with other accountants about accounting or auditing 
matters.  

Significant Issues Discussed With Management 
No significant issues arising from the audit were discussed or were the subject of correspondence with 
management.  

Significant Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit 
We did not encounter any significant difficulties in dealing with management during the audit. 
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Shared Responsibilities for Independence 

Independence is a joint responsibility and is managed most effectively when management, audit committees 
(or their equivalents), and audit firms work together in considering compliance with American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and Government Accountability Office (GAO) independence rules. 
For MGO to fulfill its professional responsibility to maintain and monitor independence, management, the 
Board of Commissioners, and MGO each play an important role. 

Our Responsibilities 

1. AICPA and GAO rules require independence both of mind and in appearance when providing audit
and other attestation services. MGO is to ensure that the AICPA and GAO’s General Requirements
for performing non-attest services are adhered to and included in all letters of engagement.

2. Maintain a system of quality management over compliance with independence rules and firm
policies.

The Authority’s Responsibilities 

1. Timely inform MGO, before the effective date of transactions or other business changes, of the
following:

a. New affiliates, directors, or officers.

b. Changes in the organizational structure or the reporting entity impacting affiliates such as
subsidiaries, partnerships, related entities, investments, joint ventures, component units,
and jointly governed organizations.

2. Provide necessary affiliate information such as new or updated structure charts, as well as financial
information required to perform materiality calculations needed for making affiliate
determinations.

3. Understand and conclude on the permissibility, prior to the Authority and its affiliates, officers,
directors, or persons in a decision-making capacity, engaging in business relationships with MGO.

4. Not entering into arrangements of nonaudit services resulting in MGO being involved in making
management decisions on behalf of the Authority.

5. Not entering into relationships resulting in close family members of MGO covered persons,
temporarily or permanently acting as an officer, director, or person in an accounting, financial
reporting or compliance oversight role at the Authority.
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RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

The following accounting pronouncements have been issued as of the date of this communication but are 
not yet effective and may affect the future financial reporting by the Authority. 

Pronouncement Summary 

GASB Statement No. 103, 
Financial Reporting Model 
Improvements 

The objective of this Statement is to improve key components of the 
financial reporting model to enhance its effectiveness in providing 
information that is essential for decision making and assessing a 
government’s accountability. This Statement also addresses certain 
application issues. 

Statement No. 103 is effective for the Authority’s fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2026 financial statements. 

GASB Statement No. 104, 
Disclosure of Certain 
Capital Assets 

The objective of this statement is to establish requirements for certain 
types of capital assets to be disclosed separately for purposes of note 
disclosures, and to establish requirements for capital assets held for sale 
and note disclosures for those capital assets. 

Statement No. 104 is effective for the Authority’s fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2026 financial statements. 

GASB Statement No. 105, 
Subsequent Events 

The primary objective of this Statement is to improve the financial 
reporting requirements for subsequent events, thereby enhancing 
consistency in their application and better meeting the information needs 
of financial statement users. 

Statement No. 105 is effective for the Authority’s fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2027 financial statements. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 
Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance With Government Auditing Standards 

The Honorable Board of Commissioners 
Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
Burbank, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority (the Authority) as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Authority’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated December 22, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s 
financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed 
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 
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Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Walnut Creek, California 
December 22, 2025 
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program; 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance; and Report on Schedule of 

Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

The Honorable Board of Commissioners 
Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority 
Burbank, California 

Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program 

Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We have audited the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority’s (the Authority) compliance with the 
types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that 
could have a direct and material effect on the Authority’s major federal program for the year ended 
June 30, 2025. The Authority’s major federal program is identified in the summary of auditor’s results 
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 
to above that could have a direct and material effect on the major federal program for year ended 
June 30, 2025. 

Basis for Opinion on the Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Audit Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards); 
and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit.  We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for the major 
federal program.  Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Authority’s compliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the 
Authority’s federal programs.  
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the Authority’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance 
when it exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is 
considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Authority’s 
compliance with the requirements of the major federal program as a whole.  

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements
referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

• Obtain an understanding of the Authority’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit.  

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, 
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control 
over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with 
a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in 
internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal 
control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control 
over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform 
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance 

We have audited the basic financial statements of the Authority as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, 
and have issued our report thereon dated December 22, 2025, which contained an unmodified opinion on 
those financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial 
statements as a whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by the Uniform Guidance and is not a required part of the basic 
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and 
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information 
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to 
the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In 
our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation 
to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Walnut Creek, California 
December 22, 2025 
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(1) Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) presents the 
activity of federal financial assistance programs of the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport 
Authority (Authority), which owns and operates the Bob Hope Airport, commonly known as 
Hollywood Burbank Airport (Airport), for the year ended June 30, 2025. The Schedule includes 
federal awards received directly from federal agencies. There were no federal awards passed 
through other agencies for the year ended June 30, 2025. The information in this Schedule is 
presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulation Part 
200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 
Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the 
operations of the Authority, it is not intended to, and does not present the financial position, 
changes in financial position or cash flows of the Authority. The Authority’s reporting entity is 
defined in note 1 to the Authority’s basic financial statements. 

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are presented using the accrual basis of accounting. Such 
expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform Guidance, 
wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.  

(3) Indirect Cost Rate 

The Authority has elected not to use the 10 percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the 
Uniform Guidance. There are no indirect costs included in grant expenditures on the accompanying 
Schedule for the year ended June 30, 2025. 

(4) Subrecipients 

The Authority did not provide any federal awards to subrecipients for the year ended June 30, 
2025. 

(5) Relationship to Federal Financial Reports 

Amounts reported in the accompanying Schedule is reconcilable with the amounts reported in the 
related federal financial reports filed by the Authority. 
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Section I—Summary of Auditor’s Results 

(a) Financial Statements 

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America: 
Unmodified. 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

a) Material weakness(es) identified?  yes X no 

b) Significant deficiency(ies) identified?  yes X none reported 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted  yes X no 
 

(b) Federal Awards 

Internal control over major federal program: 

a) Material weakness(es) identified?  yes X no 

b) Significant deficiency(ies)?  yes X none reported 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major 
federal program: Unmodified 

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported 
in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)?  yes X no 

Identification of major federal program: 

Assistance Listing Number  Name of Federal Program or Cluster 
20.106  U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Aviation 

Administration – Airport Improvement Program 
 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and 
Type B programs: $1,207,357 

Auditee qualified as a low-risk auditee? X yes  no 
 

Section II—Financial Statement Findings  

None Noted. 

Section III—Federal Awards Findings and Questioned Costs  

None Noted. 
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Section I—Financial Statement Findings 

None reported. 

Section II— Federal Awards Findings and Questioned Costs 

None reported. 
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Our Responsibility

Our responsibility under U.S. Generally Accepted Auditing Standards.

3

To express our opinion 
about whether the financial 
statements prepared by 
management with your 
oversight are fairly 
presented, in all material 
respects, in conformity with 
U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principles. This 
does not relieve you or 
management of your 
responsibilities. 

To perform an audit in 
accordance with generally 
accepted auditing 
standards issued by the 
AICPA, and to design the 
audit to obtain reasonable, 
rather than absolute, 
assurance about whether 
the financial statements are 
free of material 
misstatement.

To obtain an 
understanding of the 
Authority and its 
environment, including 
internal controls over 
financial reporting and 
compliance, as a basis for 
designing our audit 
procedures, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an 
opinion on its 
effectiveness. 

To communicate findings 
that, in our judgment, are 
relevant to your 
responsibilities in 
overseeing the financial 
reporting process. However, 
we are not required to 
design procedures for the 
purpose of identifying other 
matters to communicate to 
you.

AUDIT 
OPINION

AICPA 
STANDARDS

INTERNAL
CONTROLS

FINDINGS
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Deliverables

We issued the following reports:

• Audit report on the financial statements of the Burbank-Glendale-Pasadena Airport Authority as of and for the years ended June
30, 2025 and 2024

• Single Audit Report for the year ended June 30, 2025

• Passenger Facility Charge (PFC) Compliance Audit for the year ended June 30, 2025

• Customer Facility Charge (CFC) Compliance Audit for the year ended June 30, 2025

• Debt Covenant Compliance Report for the year ended June 30, 2025

• Report to those charged with governance

• Communicating required matters and matters related to internal controls and compliance with laws, regulations, contracts and
agreements
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Audit Timing

5

August -
September

INTERIM AUDIT PROCEDURES

October -
December

FINAL FIELDWORK

December -
February

REPORTING AND PRESENTATION

YEAR-ROUND
COLLABORATION

Reports dated 12/22/2025
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Required Communications 

Results:

• Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices

o Including financial statement estimates

• Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

• Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

• Disagreements with Management

• Management Representations

• Management consultations with other independent accountants

• Other audit findings or issues
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with Those Charged with Governance
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Auditor’s Reports

Opinions:

• Unmodified opinion on the basic financial statements

• Unmodified opinion on compliance with federal award programs in accordance with Uniform Guidance (Single
Audit Report)

• Unmodified opinion on compliance with FAA’s PFC Guide

• Unmodified opinion on compliance with the State’s CFC Code

• Unmodified opinion on compliance with the bond indenture
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Internal Controls

Reporting on Internal Controls:

• No material weaknesses

• No significant deficiencies
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Implementation of New Standards

GASB Pronouncements Implemented during June 30, 2025:

• GASB 101 – Compensated Absences

• GASB 102 – Certain Risk Disclosures

Significant GASB Pronouncements Effective in Future:

• GASB 103 – Financial Reporting Model Improvements

• GASB 104 – Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets

• GASB 105 – Subsequent Events
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Questions?
Let’s Talk.
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